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Exchange. We focus on investing in listed
shares, bonds and private equity.

FEIEBRARE
EMEERRAT | B

R-EBREBBEXMERLHT2REDT -
BRMAEIRERLETRERE  EERFELHARKRE

MISSION
f& o

Becoming a well-known investment
company in Hong Kong

RAEERABNRELT




kR
INVESTMENT
STRATEGIES

1R & % W \\\ ﬁ
; Prudent but proactive

/ \, investment approach
AR ma . amuEnsmRES

Diversified portfolio of
asset classes

EEHEAREENNZ I

Buy-and-Hold & A ¥ 5 &
Band-trading Ef & &

Capital appreciation and stable returns
EAXEERIERER




CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2018

CONTENTS
H &%

A
."'\

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DREHR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION CORPORATE
AND ANALYSIS \ GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEBHRES N | ¥ LEERHE

Business Strateqy

1 . - 4
‘--r --'----r*‘ '-r:-':r’-"-—-'r :.:-E:
.. s s ‘.

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
ESRTHRARZERE



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESE

2o
é\lVIRONMENTAL SOCIALAND,
GOVERNANCE REPORTA:""'

FINANCIAL
SECTION

R %R

67

73

74

75

77

78

80

171

THERRRECHERBRAT | T \FFH

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEHREE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBEHRE S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
BRmER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
freBAE A ERESR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBI

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BRERESHE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FAERESRER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RRME

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFEHHHRE



04

CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2018

CORPORATE

INFORMATION
RAEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Man Chan

Executive Director
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Chief Executive Officer
Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Ms. Florence Ng

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman)
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Ms. Florence Ng

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman)
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Ms. Florence Ng

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Ms. Florence Ng

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Leung Yiu Wah
Ms. Cheng Suk Fun

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

INVESTMENT MANAGER

Silverstone Investments Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

UBS AG

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

ESERTHRAR
IRRFUTES
PR B +

HTES
FEBRELE

TR
BeEXEL

BYFATES
REBEL
R
REWLL

ERZEY
EIBE L ()
REBHEL
REWLL

FMEEE
W K (£ )
[EBEL
SEWLL

REZEE
REBEL(ER)
5B R 55
EIBE L
SEWLL

BREARWE
RIBE S
WRF LT

7% ]

REeMERT SFTENTT

RERE
RAREAR A

FEERRT

EELBELSRITARRAT

AIEBITER AR
SERRITARRE

PEZRRIT(EMBEOBERAF
BITIRIT(BB)BRAR

UBS AG

ERBIT(FEB)BRAA



CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEH

CUSTODIAN
Chong Hing Bank Limited

SOLICITORS

As to Hong Kong Law
Sidley Austin

As to Bermuda Law
Appleby

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon's Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Flat 18, 9/F. Focal Industrial Centre, Block B,

21 Man Lok street, Hunghom, Kowloon,

Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT IN
BERMUDA

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited

Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
IN HONG KONG

Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http://www.hk0810.com
http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/cii810

STOCK CODE
810

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR

EEE
B RRITERA R

#a
ERRESE
2 128 0 1 42 BT 2 75

BREZEIAE
RIAEM BT

SR
Canon's Court

22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda
ERTEEEME
BB

REAL R REEH215%
Em LEPOBEIEIBE

BRETERONBFERE

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

EEROBFELIE
SEBERGRAR
&%

2 /7 KB R18357
AR 221

48 1t
http://www.hk0810.com
http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/cii810

B4 155

810

05



CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2018

CHAIRMAN'S

STATEMENT
ITR|E

Dr. Lam Man Chan
MCIEIE L
Chairman

FE

| would express my heartfelt
gratitude towards all of the

directors, management and
staff members.
RAZBUAREZREES EEHE
REBIKBRERDKH o

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of China Internet Investment Finance
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018. The Company
is an investment company pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules").

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

Net asset value is employed as the key performance indicator.
As at the balance sheet date, it amounted to be about HK$142.0
million (31 December 2017: HK$182.1 million) and decreased by
about 22.0%. This decrease was mainly attributable to the net fair
value loss of the equity investment portfolio. This was generally in
line with the drop in the stock market indices, and the Hang Seng
Index, Hang Seng China Enterprises Index and GEM Board Index
fell 13.6%, 13.5% and 44.5% respectively for the year. During the
year, the Company increased the equity by HK$14.3 million through
a placing of new shares.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO REVIEW

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income
As at the balance sheet date, the debt instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income amounted to about HK$11.1
million (31 December 2017: Nil) and classified as non-current assets.
During the year, the listed debt securities portfolio had been
reviewed and the investments in lower-yield debt securities were
reduced in view of the rising U.S. interest rate environment. Higher-
yield debt securities were kept to earn a better return.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These mainly represented equity investments and the current
portion comprised listed equity investments of about HK$44.6
million (31 December 2017: HK$66.2 million). The non-current
portion comprised listed equity investments of about HK$32.5
million (31 December 2017: HK$46.1 million) and an unlisted equity
investment and its derivatives. The unlisted equity investment is
our pre-Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) investment made in China
Oriented International Holdings Limited (“China Oriented’) during
the year. The Group subscribed 14% of new shares in the issued
share capital of China Oriented at a consideration of HK$16 million.
As at the balance sheet date, the fair value of this unlisted equity
investment and related derivatives amounted to HK$17.8 million.
China Oriented is engaged in the provision of driving training
service with two driving schools, which operated in Zhumadian
City, Henan Province, the PRC. In November 2018, China Oriented
submitted an application to the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong for
a listing at the main board.

PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP

l. Disclosure in relation to each of the significant investments
held as at the balance sheet date pursuant to Listing Rules are
mainly set out in the Note 19 in pages 132 to 138.

ll.  The performance during their latest financial period/year,
material factors underlying the results and financial position,
significant events, if any, during their financial periods under
review, future prospects of each of the significant investments
can be found in their announcements made available in
the website of HKEx. In addition, the below information is
extracted and provided for easy reference.

lll.  These significant investments are held for achieving capital
appreciation or generating interest or dividend income. To
meet our investment objective, listed securities are managed
and regularly reviewed on a portfolio basis. Regarding listed
equities, the buy-and-hold strategy and short term trading
tactics are also used to enhance the investment returns. The
fixed income securities can provide a stable interest income
and their portfolio will be regularly reviewed to achieve a
better risk-adjusted return.

Investment in unlisted equities is reviewed on an investment-
by-investment basis and can typically provide a high return if
there is a successful exit.
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1. China Oriented International Holdings Limited (“China Oriented")
This was the pre-IPO investment made during the year and
further details are set out in the Note 18 in pages 130 to 131.

a.  China Oriented increased its revenue to RMB54 million
for the nine months period ended 30 September 2018
from RMB45 million in the prior period and this resulted
in a corresponding rise in profit. Because of this, its net
worth has growth steadily.

b.  The fair value of our investment is stated to be about
HK$15.7 million at the end of the year 2018 and there was
an increase as compared to the cost of about HK$12.7
million.

During the year, China Oriented submitted its
application for listing in Hong Kong in November 2018,
which is an important stage of the business development
of a growing enterprise.

c. It is noted that China Oriented has well-equipped
driving schools which can enable its trainees to acquire
necessary driving skills in an effective way and they
offer different types of driving courses with well-
trained instructors to meet different customer needs.
If the demand of driving training services for large
vehicles continues to increase, China Oriented could
benefit therefrom. We consider that the investment in
China Oriented could generate a high return if its IPO
application is successful in the future.
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2.

Newtree Group Holdings Limited (“Newtree Group”)

The revenue of Newtree Group for the six months ended
30 September 2018 increased from HK$47.8 million to
about HK$59.8 million and the loss before income tax
from continuing operations improved to profit before
income tax of about HK$2.3 million. However, the net
assets reduced from about HK$376.9 million to HK$354.2
million.

The share price of Newtree Group at the end of the year
2018 rose to HK$0.53.

During the year, Newtree Group approved a major
transaction in respect of acquisition of 20% equity
interest in Alpha Youth Limited, which is principally
engaged in the production and sale of concrete in the
PRC.

As stated in its latest interim report, Newtree Group
will actively diversify its business portfolio and find
new growth drivers in the future. Its new segment of
money lending business has contributed a stable and
favorable income stream. With the continual growth in
the money lending business market in Hong Kong, this
can provide them an expansion opportunity. Regarding
their segment of household consumables business, its
revenue slightly decreased during the latest interim
period while the gross profit margin remained stable.
Newtree Group is still optimistic in its potential growth
and it will expand the sales team and diversify the
Company’s income stream.

We note that there was a significant increase in
gross profit from continuing operations during its
interim period, which was mainly attributable to the
money lending business. In the future, its operating
performance could be further enhanced if the money
lending business increases further.

2.
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3. HSBC Holding Plc ("HSBC")

a.

HSBC reported that in their 2018 financial results, the
net interest income increased to about US$30,489 million
and net profit increased to about US$13,727 million
accordingly. The shareholder’s equity increased to about
US$186,253 million.

The share price of HSBC at the end of the year 2018
dropped to HK$64.8.

HSBC reported a good start to 2019 and its revenue
performance in January 2019 was ahead of their plan
with robust credit performance, but it may be also
affected due to the uncertainly of the outcome of
Brexit. HSBC is a leading international bank and its
overall financial strength and management are generally
considered robust. HSBC can often provide a stable and
satisfactory dividend yield.

Our management has considered that HSBC is a leading
Hang Sang Index constituent and, in the future, its share
price could rise if the investor sentiment further improves
upon the resolution of the trade settlement between
China and US,

4.  Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent Holdings")

a.

Tencent Holdings announced a significant increase
in revenues to the level of RMB312,694 million from
RMB237,760 million and the growth drivers were value-
added services and online advertising in 2018. However,
the yearly profit attributable to shareholders increased
moderately to RMB78,719 million. The shareholder’s
equity increased significantly to about RMB323,510
million.

The share price of Tencent Holdings at the end of the
year 2018 dropped to HK$314.

During the year, Tencent Holdings announced the spin
off and separate listing of Tencent Music Entertainment
Group in the US.

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR
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Tencent Holdings mentioned in its outlook section that it
will enhance its online game portfolio, and connections
with enterprises leveraging Mini Programs, Weixin Pay
and WeChat Work. Tencent Holdings is a leading Internet
company in China with rapid business growth in the past.
Its online gaming business encountered hurdle in 2018
but based on its influential business presence in the
market place, a good recovery of share price is expected
if the investor sentiment further improves.

Based on the above, our management is optimistic about
the overall performance of Tencent in the near future if
the Hong Kong stock market will be up.

AIA Group Limited ("AIA Group")
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In 2018, AIA Group encountered a decline of net profit a. —E-NF KARBNFER
to the level of US$3,226 million, mainly attributable to F T Bk %23,226,000,0003 7T &)
the drop in investment return. However, according to KFEF - EEZEHREBEERT
AIA Group's result announcement, the shareholder’ BRFT B A - RIB R FHRbe
equity amounted to about US$39,006 million. They have MEBLE RERFIHA
delivered an excellent performance with double-digit 39,006,000,0003 7T ° & R b
growth in 2018. Value of new business by 22 per cent RZZB-N\FHEBRHFEH -
and the operating profit after tax was up by 13 per cent BEEMNH TR HEBKE
to US$5,298 million and the embedded value operating B R22% : Ti1% & 8 @ 7 8 0
profit increased by 23 per cent to US$8,278 million. 13% %5,298,000,000% 7T * A
B EE E & A B S hn23% =
8,278,000,000% T °
The share price of AIA Group at the end of the year 2018 b. EARBOHKRER-ZT—N\FE
increased to HK$65. EAFESET -
AIA Group considered the need for their insurance c. KRHERBRBR HRILARR

products would continue to grow, given low level of
private levels of private insurance penetration and social
welfare coverage. AIA Group is a Hang Seng Index
constituent stock with leading position in the insurance
industry. Because of the business nature and market
position, its financial strength is strong and robust.

In the near future, its performance is expected to
outperform the market because of its expected growing
demand of insurance products.
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6.

1.

Sa Sa International Holdings Limited (“Sa Sa International”)

For the period ended September 2018, Sa Sa
International reported a significant increase in net profit,
mainly attributable to the increase in turnover from
about HK$3.5 billion to about HK$4.1 billion. The total
equity increased to about HK$2.6 billion.

The share price Sa Sa International remained stable at
the end of the year 2018.

Sa Sa International reported that its recent sales had
been adversely affected by the general decline in the
retail market in Hong Kong. Its overall performance was
also weaker than expected due to the effect of various
factors affecting consumption sentiment including the
Sino-US trade war and fluctuations from the stock and
property markets. However, in the long run, Sa Sa
International believed that the favorable policies and
infrastructure development of the Greater Bay Area will
drive the flow of people and prosperity of retail industry
in the region.

It is our expectation that the investment in Sa Sa
International could still generate a steady dividend
income in the near future, and its performance could
improve if the above adverse factors are alleviated.

Jete Power Holdings Limited (“Jete Power”)

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the
loss of Jete Power furthered to about HK$ 9.7 million and
the total equity amounted to about HK$39.1 million.

The share price of Jete Power at the end of the year 2018
dropped to HK$0.04 (2017: about HK$0.3).

6.
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In the future, Jete Power reported that it attempts to
enhance its profitability by diversification and create
new sources of revenue. Aiming to diversify the business
profile , Jete Power also organized five shows under two
concert titles in Hong Kong in September and October
2018 and recorded a gross profit of approximately
HK$1.78 million.

In the future, our management will also closely monitor
the performance of Jete Power and in particular its share
price dropped drastically last year.

8.  Smart-Core Holdings Limited ("Smart-Core”)

a.

Smart-Core increased its revenue for the year 2018 to
HK$4,935.6 million and the audited profit rose to HK$81.5
million. The shareholder’s equity increased to about
HK$568.3 million.

The share price of Smart-Core at the end of the year
2018 remained stable.

Smart-Core reported certain strategic moves, including
the acquisition of a leading distributor and the
establishment of a joint venture with a Singapore-based
company to develop the Indian and Southeast Asian
markets. Regarding their broadcast TV products, Smart-
Core considered the markets of those differentiated
products including commercial display and smart
projection products will maintain rapid growth. The
TV market is currently in the process of product and
technology upgrading and Smart-Core is expected to
benefit therefrom.

Based on the above development and the recent
increase in dividend payout of Smart-Core, it is expected
its performance could be steady in the near future. It
could also generate a stable dividend return.
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9.

10.

Sands China Limited (“Sands China")

a.

Sands China increased its net revenue for the year 2018
to US$8,665 million and the net profit increased to
about US$1,875 million. The audited shareholder’s equity
decreased slightly to about US$4,409 million.

The share price of Sand China at the end of the year
2018 dropped to HK$34.3.

Sands China reported that they looked to the future with
confidence, they expected that there will be a strong
organic growth outlook benefiting from their investment
and the increased demand for travel and entertainment
in Asia. Sands China is one of the largest Macau gaming
business operator and provide a stable dividend payout.

Based on the above, in the future, the share price
of Sands China is expected to improve if the market
sentiment towards the gaming business becomes more
favorable.

King Power Capital Limited ("King Power”)

King Power is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Travel
Service (Holdings) Hong Kong Limited and its controlling
shareholder is China Travel International Investment
Hong Kong Limited (“China Travel International”), which
was incorporated in British Virgin Islands and its shares
are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 00308). China Travel reported a decrease in
revenue in 2018 to the level of HK$4,518.2 million and
the net profit dropped to about HK$829.9 million. The
net asset was stated to be about HK$16,013 million.

The bond price of King Power at the end of the year
2018 dropped to US$106 (2017: US$111.76).

China Travel International reported that in 2019, with
the situation becoming more complicated both overseas
and domestically in the PRC, new features will emerge
in the tourism industry and the competition will become
more intense. Our investment was wholly disposed of in
January 2019.

9.

10.
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Participation at new hotel LED
lightings project in Hong Kong
SEEE—BFEER LED
ARAAIRH




Exhibition at Milano Design Week
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded
investment income and gross proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") of about HK$49.2
million (2017: about HK$52.4 million), representing decrease of
about 6.1% as compared to the corresponding period of last year.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the revenue of the Group
was HK$3.8 million (2017 HK$4.1 million) comprising of dividend
income from financial assets at FVTPL of about HK$2.4 million
(2017: HK$1.9 million), interest income from debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") of about
HK$1.4 million (2017: Nil) and no interest income from available-
for-sale ("AFS”) financial assets and financial assets at FVTPL (2017:
HK$1.9 million and HK$0.3 million respectively). The revenue was
comparable to that of corresponding year.

Loss from operations

For year ended 31 December 2018, loss from operations amounted
to HK$53.7 million (2017: HK$44.6 million). It was partly attributable
to the net fair value losses on listed equity securities of about
HK$27.8 million (2017: HK$18.0 million), which was partly offset by
the fair value gain on an unlisted equity investment and related
derivatives of about HK$1.8 million (2017: Nil). In particular, the
remeasurement of our equity investment in GEM Board shares
resulted in a fair value loss of about HK$20.8 million (2017:
HK$33.0 million) which was underperformed as compared to the
corresponding market index. The Hong Kong stock market also
exhibited significant volatility. The Hang Seng Index reached a
record high level in January 2018 but subsequently, it dropped and
hit a major correction in October 2018. Particularly, the trade war
between the US and the Mainland broke out and the economy in
the PRC slowed down coupled with a weakening Renminbi.
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Other income, mainly represented the interest income from an
associate, decreased by approximately HK$282,000 because the
related loan to associate was fully paid off in early 2018.

The other loss of about HK$0.4 million (2017: HK$0.5 million) was
mainly caused by the disposal of certain debt instruments at FVTOCI
during the year.

The administrative expenses and other operating expenses
amounted to HK$31.2 million (2017: HK$30.6 million). The expenses
mainly comprised employment benefit expenses of about HK$16.9
million (2017: HK$15.3 million) and depreciation charge of fixed
assets of about HK$4.9 million (2017: HK$7.8 million). The finance
cost decreased to HK$0.1 million (2017: HK$0.3 million) because the
obligation under a finance lease was fully settled during the year.

Share of results of associates

It represents the investment in the 30% shareholding of Superb
Kingdom Limited ("SKL") and its subsidiaries which include our
direct and indirect interests therein. SKL had previously suffered
from the tough business environment of LED lightings and we had
made full impairment of the investment costs in prior year. During
the year, SKL attempted to conduct certain LED lighting installation
projects in Hong Kong and hoped to improve its performance.

UPDATE ON RECOVERY OF OUTSTANDING CONVERTIBLE NOTE
("CN") RECEIVABLES

The winding up of the CN issuers and the corporate guarantor are
underway and the Group's lawyers continue to consider practical
ways to recover the outstanding CN receivables.
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PROSPECTS

Market outlook

In December 2018, the trade truce between China and U.S. gave
both sides political breathing room. Their negotiation appears
to go well and the investor sentiment has improved and turned
positive. Furthermore, in January 2019, China reduced the ratio of
reserve requirement by 1% to provide more market liquidity. The
U.S. Federal Reserve has also become dovish and the expectation of
interest rate hikes is not as high as that of prior year. Together with
the joint announcement of policy measures of Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area in February 2019, the stock market
has bounced significantly since the beginning of 2019.

The Group has planned to invest more in private equity (“PE"),
in particular the pre-IPO investments which can typically provide
good investment exits within a reasonable time period. During
the year, we have invested in China Oriented which has submitted
its application for listing. We will plan to invest in other PE
opportunities which are of good potential. To facilitate the
investment process, we have obtained a money lender license and
set up an investment company in China.

China will also launch a new technology and innovation stock board
in Shanghai with a registration-based IPO system and the new
board will allow companies that are not yet profitable to list for the
first time. Together with the measures under the Greater Bay Area
development, we expect that there will be more pre-IPO investment
opportunities in biotech companies and fintech companies.

Regarding the listed equity portfolio, the buy-and-hold strategy
and short-term trading tactics are used to enhance the overall
investment returns. We will also continue to review the fixed income
portfolio (including perpetual securities) to ensure a better risk-
adjusted return can be derived therefrom.

Moreover, the Group will consider ways to strengthen its capital
base and enhance the financial position.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ("AGM")

The AGM of the Company will be held on 24 May 2019. The notice
of AGM will be published and despatched to the shareholders of
the Company in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
20 May 2019 to 24 May 2019, both days inclusive, for the purpose
of determining the entitlement of the shareholders of the Company
to attend and vote at the AGM. No transfer of shares may be
registered during the said period. In order to qualify to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than on 4:30
p.m. on 17 May 2019.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Company, | would express my heartfelt gratitude
towards all of the directors, management and staff members for
their support and contribution to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited
Lam Man Chan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDT

Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong
BEXIELT

Chief Executive Officer
7T AEZL

China Oriented is our pre-IPO investment
made during the year in 2018.

AP REFAR_ZE-NFELNERARE
ERIKRE -

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2018, the cash and bank balances amounted to
approximately HK$30.9 million (31 December 2017: HK$22.5 million)
and the net current assets amounted to approximately HK$68.7
million (31 December 2017: HK$81.7 million).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no capital commitment
(31 December 2017: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio, calculated as a
percentage of borrowing over equity attributable to owners of the
Company, dropped to 2% (31 December 2017: 3%).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

As of 31 December 2018, the Group's property and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$11.6 million (31 December 2017:
HK$16.3 million).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year, there were no significant acquisitions or disposals
of principal subsidiaries.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year, 7,800,000 share options were lapsed and 7,800,000
share options had been granted and no share options were
exercised and cancelled. There are 15,100,000 shares options
outstanding as at 31 December 2018.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The investment portfolio primarily comprises listed equities in Hong
Kong stock market and debt securities, and other funds are usually
maintained in the banks. Majority of them are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars or U.S. dollars. The Board considers the Group has no
significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation at the balance
sheet date.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

In April 2018, the Company issued a total of 109,170,000 ordinary
shares with par value of HK$0.10 each at a price of HK$0.135 each,
by way of a share placing. The net proceeds of about HK$14.3 million
were used for some investments and general working capital.
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As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s total number of issued
shares was 655,121,250 (31 December 2017: 545,951,250 shares).

PLEDGE OF THE GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the office premises with a carrying amount
of HK$10.9 million (31 December 2017: HK$11.4 million) was pledged
for a mortgaged loan. As at 31 December 2017, the Group's
obligation under a finance lease was secured by the Group's title
to the leased assets, which had carrying amount of approximately
HK$3.6 million.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company have 32 employees
(31 December 2017: 27). The remuneration packages for the
employees and the directors are in line with the prevailing market
practice and are determined on the basis of performance and
experience.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining and implementing a
high standard of corporate governance and recognizes that good
governance can help the business to deliver its strategies, generate
shareholder value and meet its obligations towards shareholders
and other stakeholders. The Company has established a governance
structure, and embeds governance and principles in the business
to ensure accountability, fairness, integrity and transparency.

The Board adheres to corporate governance practices by adopting
and complying with the established rules, codes, guidelines under
the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company has followed the
CG Code and formulated its own policies and procedures regarding
the corporate governance practices. During the financial year of
2018, the Company complied with all of the provisions under the
CG Code except for the following:

1. Code provision A.4.1
All the Non-executive Directors were not appointed for a
specific term, however, their appointment are subject to
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting as
specified in the bye-laws of the Company.

2. Code provision A.7.1
The code provision A.7.1 requires an agenda and
accompanying board papers should be sent, in full, to all
Directors for regular board meetings and as far as practicable
in all other cases. These papers should be sent in a timely
manner and at least 3 days before the intended date of a
board or board committee meeting (or other agreed period).

Due to the practical reasons, an agenda and accompanying
board papers have not been sent, in full, in 3 days in advance
to certain meetings of the Board or Board Committee. The
Company Secretary continues to use its best endeavours to
send the agenda and accompanying board paper, in full to
the Board or Board Committee at least 3 days in advance to
the extent practicable.
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed issuers (the "Model Code”) contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors. All Directors of the Company
have confirmed that, for the year ended 31 December 2018, each
director has complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for the management of the
Company and the implementation of its investment policy, which
includes, inter alia, the adoption of long term corporate strategies,
assessment of investment projects, supervision of its management
and review of its financial performance to ensure that the Company's
investments are conducted in accordance with its objectives. The
Company appoints the professional investment manager to manage
its investment portfolio and Silverstone Investments Limited is
the investment manager to provide such investment management

service.

BOARD SIZE AND COMPOSITION

There are currently five Directors in the Board: the Chairman, one
Executive Director, and three Independent non-executive Directors
("INEDs"). The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are separated. The Board regularly reviews its size and composition
to ensure that the Board can have a breadth of perspective from
time to time and that it always has the necessary diversity of skills
and attributes required to oversee and govern in the ever-changing
operating environment. The Directors’ biographical details are set
out in the section of "Biography of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer” on pages 59 to 65. During the year, the board size and
composition was reviewed by the Nomination Committee during the
year.
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The Board members for the year ended 31 December 2018 and as
at the date up to this report were:

Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Dr. Lam Man Chan

Executive Director
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Ms. Florence Ng

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year
at approximately quarterly intervals in addition to other Board
meetings that are required for significant and important issues,
and for statutory purposes. The Board meetings are attended by
a majority of the Directors in person or through other electronic
means of communication. Appropriate and sufficient information is
provided to the Board members in a timely manner to keep them
abreast of the Group's latest development and thus assist them in
discharging their duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, other than resolutions
passed in writing by all the Directors, the Board held a total of
seven Board meetings. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Company convened an annual general meeting ("AGM").

The attendance of the Directors at the Board Meetings and General
Meetings for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out as below:
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EEREE_T\F+-A=T—HLHFE
LEZEQERLBRAGHERBEEHEINWNT -

Number of meetings attended

HESBRH™
Name of Directors Board Meetings AGM
EEpns ExgeR BRRBFRE
Chairman and Non-Executive Director TERFHTES
Dr. Lam Man Chan M EE L 7 1
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung TEBREE 7 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REHET 5 1
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy BB 5 1
Ms. Florence Ng REMEL L 5 1
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Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has given the
Company an annual confirmation of independence. The Company
considers such Directors to be independent under the guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business or family relationship among members of the Board as at
31 December 2018. All of them are free to exercise their individual
judgment.

THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the role of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. To ensure a balance of power
and authority, Dr. Lam Man Chan and Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong have
been appointed as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company respectively. The major duties of the Chairman are to
provide leadership to the Board and spearhead overall corporate
development and strategic planning whilst the Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for implementing the decisions and strategy
approved by the Board and managing day-to-day operations of the
Group with the supports of the Executive Director.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Although the
current Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term, all
Directors (including Executive and Non-executive) of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
as specified in the bye-laws of the Company.

EBUFATEFTCHBRZBIERARE E
HEERRE - ARARR RELTRAUSE
3MGEFEES  REFEFEHRBILAL -

BEEEMAM R-T—\F+ZA=1+—
B EFEXREMABEMUE  EHIR
REAER - 2REZHR B AELEAHE -

IERTHRAER

STRMESCEA2MERT  TERITRAER 2 A
BRETRY  TEHAR-AEE - REREN
EEEZFE MXEBLRGEXELESD
MEZERARBAZERERITHRAR - TFZ
ITZREAFTREFTENFHERBOXERE
REERE  MITBARNAENTHESSH
EZRREERE  YWHERATEFZXERTEE
AEBHEZE -

FHTES

REBETRXEALUE  SFRTEZERREE
EHEME YABEET - BEARFZHRE
FATEFRBYUIFATEFTL RS ELH
ZE EARAZE2REZ(BREATRIENR
THAARBARR 2 AFMARZ R ERRR
BERELWERE-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERESE

THE BOARD COMMITTEES

1.

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR

EEZEE

Audit Committee 1. BERZES"
The Audit Committee of the Company was established with its written RRFRIZEZEZEGEEN L MAEE
terms of reference formulated in accordance with the requirements BEGEDRE LA ZEESE -
of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently consists of three EZEZEER H-rEE BEIIEMITES
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ng Chi Yeung R & %T@i BBEEERRBHZ LT
Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and Ms. Florence Ng. Mr. Tam Yuk MK e Lif‘ﬁiﬁ%ﬁx BEgFE -
Sang, Sammy is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee has adopted terms of reference which are in ERZEGCRATEEE TR
line with the CG Code. The Audit Committee met regularly during BiE#HE BZRLZESRFRNTHRT
the year to review the completeness, accuracy and fairness of the 5 MRFAARAMBHRE 2 TEMN
Company's financial statements, the Company's financial reporting EBEUERAFRE ARRAZHBRE
system and internal control procedures, the scope and nature of the FIERANERERER  INBEZ2EE
external audit and matters concerning the engagement of external RUEEAREREIINEZEMAER S
auditors. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing H - BERZEQNAEEHARRIZHH
the Company’s interim and annual financial statements and making NEFHBHRE  THESSHERQT
recommendations as to the approval of the Company's interim and ZHHRFEMBHRKRELEBRER -
annual financial statements by the Board.
During the year, the Audit Committee held three meetings and FA BERZEGBERT=2RgH %
the attendance of the members at the meetings for the year KERBE_ZT—)/\F+-_A=+—HIt
ended 31 December 2018 is set out as below: FREIZEHRHFBREHIMOT :
Number of
meetings
Name of Members attended
REEE HEEBRHY
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman) BRERE(ERE) 3
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REBEL 3
Ms. Florence Ng R|EEL L 3
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was
established primarily to review and make recommendations
to the Board on matters relating to the remuneration of the
Directors and the senior management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ng Chi
Yeung, Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and Ms. Florence
Ng. Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy is the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted terms of reference which are in line with the CG Code
to review the remuneration policy and remuneration packages
of the Directors. During the year, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting and has reviewed the level of director fee
by making comparison to peers.

The attendance of the members at the meeting for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set out as below:

YPMEES
ARRZHMEB GO EKY - EBMmET
EFERARREREREBEZHFMEEMN
ERtMEFSFELEEER -

YMEE SRR 2B IIENTES
REEEL BREAEMNIRBK
THRK - BIEEREBFHNEZESERFE -
YTHZESCHRMNFTALEERTAIZ
BESE HEERJESZ2HMEE
REMEB - FR FHEESYET
—AEEVEREREELBEMBERE
EHBEKFE o

EXRERBE_ZT-NF+_A=+t—H
LFEZzZEHBEREEINMT

Number of

meetings
Name of Members attended
BEHEA HESBERH
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman) BIBAESEE(EE) 1
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REHEL 1
Ms. Florence Ng REWE T+ 1

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently consists of one
Executive Director, namely, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ng Chi
Yeung, Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and Ms. Florence Ng.
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon is the Chairman of the Committee.
During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
composition, structure, size of the board and the board
diversity.

REZESE
REAZBEEHAKH - RRITES  BIF
BRELE  UR=Z2BIIFNTES B
REHEL B|RELERRBELL
MR- REBBLIRZEEXR - FR
REZESRNEFTGZAN 2B R
BULREFEREZ T -
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During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
and the attendance of the members at the meeting for the
year ended 31 December 2018 is set out as below:

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR

FA-REZBELET—RE#: SXER
BE_ZT-/\F+-A Z
HERBEI T

Number of
meetings
Name of Members attended
REKE HEEBXRY
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung TEBREE 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon (Chairman) REBEL(FE) 1
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy EBAESLAE 1
Ms. Florence Ng RVEEL L 1

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the fee paid/payable in
respect of audit services and non-audit services to the Company'’s
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, was approximately HK$800,000
and HK$21,200 respectively.

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board as to the appointment, reappointment and removal of
the external auditors, which is subject to the approval by the Board
and at general meetings of the Company by the shareholders.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company and ensure that they
are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of such financial statements.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Company’s financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 67 to 72.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

¥ %5 6T % BN
REEZ—N\F+-_A=+—BHLEFE B
N/ R ARABZEEMEL e BEMR S 5T AT
THEZRELEECZRENERS O A
800,000 7T } 21,2008 7T °

EVZEGRANERE  EFZERRBRINE
LEMAEFSFLERES  ARZET &
HEERBBRZEEALKESTERRARALZ
BERKE L EBIRALE - HAMEER -

EEHMBRRZEME

EETRESHEBADNARBRER 2 AL
UGB BE DR ATRE LB A G
AlfRE - ERTRRRSTIBEMHBHRE -

ARBINEBZBEM I BER T GFHAIITH
WEBARAMBEHRERR 2P RETIEH 2B H
HRBOENRAEZBIREMBE -

EEHR BRFEFL—VEAEEHRRAAR
Mo BELEE RELTABEMAEEAR
RAZFBEEERIBREARBZEMHHMN
MNZEBEBRTHAPAE -
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of
internal control for the Company and has regularly reviewed the
internal control policy so as to safeguard the Group's assets. During
the year, the Company assessed its key risks and migration plan.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the findings and risk profile of
the Company.

Internal audit function

Given its small operations, the Company’s internal audit function
has been primarily provided by professional firms or individual
consultants. During the year, our consultant reviewed the internal
control procedures relating to the areas of investment operation and
risk management of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

1. Framework of risk management
Risk management is defined as the overall process of
identifying and understanding its own risks and taking
informed actions. This is to help it achieve its strategic
objectives, reduce the likelihood of failure and decrease the
uncertainty of overall business performance.

(@) Responsibility of the board and the management

The Company adopts a simple and practical approach
towards the risk management process. The Company
embeds the risk management features within our
investment management as well as operational areas
(including finance, human resources, and information
technology) and these operating units adopt the risk
management systems on a day-to-day basis.

These systems are designed to mitigate the risk of
failure to achieve relevant objectives, and provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Moreover, the management annually reviews and
updates its risk profile, aiming to provide assurance to
the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management
systems, and the Board will oversee the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems on an ongoing

basic

PR S
EEQARBRARFEENNBERRAR
THBHABELRE  LREAEEZ A
EoFR AATCHEAEERRBES
B ERZAGEHAFHERRARAZA
Bk -

R 1
EREERB /N KRB ZAMEBE—E
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1. EREEER
BB EE 2 AETHBIRT®AA
FEBLRBABTH 2 REERF - 1t
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(b) Supporting Role of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee supports the Board in
monitoring the risk exposure, the design and operating
effectiveness of the underlying risk management and
internal controls systems. The Audit Committee, acting
on behalf of the Board, oversees the following process:

— regular reviews of the principal business risks,
and related control measures, the strengths and
weaknesses of the overall internal controls system
and action plans for improvement;

— regular reviews of internal audit reports,
including action plans to address the identified
control weaknesses, status update and its
implementations; and

— regular reports by the external auditors of any
control issues identified in the course of their work
and discussion with the external auditors of the
scope of their respective review and findings.

The Audit Committee will then report to the Board after
due review of the effectiveness of the Group's system
of internal controls. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view
on the effectiveness of the system.

Risk profile

Our approach for managing risk is underpinned by our
understanding of our current risk exposures, and how our
risks are changing over time. The risk assessment includes
identifying relevant objectives, identifying events that could
affect the achievement of objectives, determining risk
tolerance, assessing the likelihood/significance of risks and
evaluating the portfolio of risks.

The major risks included price risk, market risk, investment risk
and liquidity risk. To minimize the liquidity risk, the Company
rarely used gearing to enhance its return on investment. In the
context of a fast-changing global/local business environment
and highly-volatile financial market, market risk, equity price
risk and emergent risks are generally high and their monitoring
will need ongoing efforts.

We continue to integrate internal controls and risk
management into our investment operation on a day-to-day
basis in order to improve the process.

b) BERZEEENZFAEG

ERREBENRESSEREMEY
MR - AR EE AR
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”M\Aiﬁﬂ:

Principal Risks identified

The following highlights the major risks to the Group based

on the annual risk assessment conducted in 2018.

Risks [ B

3. E%%WEEH@
TXHBEERR T \FETOEE
BB & ﬁm$%lfgﬂho

Treatment Plan(s) F& %3t 2

1. Concentration Risk £ & k&

Concentration of equity price risk may arise
if the Group has a significant investment in a
single equity investment. Details of the major
investments are disclosed in note 19.
MEREBMRE-—BERAREEEERE » Alae
EXBRAERETRAR FTEREZHBRME
194K% 55 -

2. Equity Price Risk {E#& &K
Price risk arises from fluctuation in market prices
of our investment in listed equity securities.
The management manages the exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of listed equity securities
with different risk exposure.

BRRRELBEAR Wﬁﬂﬁiéfiﬁﬂilﬁéiﬁf%Zﬁ
LERKE  EEEEBEFTRAR LMK

$“‘%ZEAX””IEEZJ—L|3“ °

3. Market Risk 35 & k&
Market risk is the risk that deteriorates
profitability or affects ability to meet business

objectives arising from the movement in market
prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest

rates and equity prices.

M5 R R T I5ER (NEER - F X R RAER)
HPMERBNENZTBIAFEEREBHAFTZ
BENRFHIIR -

4. Strategic Risk % B & &

Strategic risk may arise from the pursuit of

an unsuccessful business plan, failed business
decision or from a failure to respond well to
changes in the business environment.

RERDEERXHE  ARRRRRAKREZ

ZCREREBREZ L AeslRB AR -

Regular monitoring of the investment limits and
concentration analysis. For details of the major
investments, please refer to note 19 of the financial
statement.

THERRERBLAEPREEST BRI ERE
ZHE FLHMBHRERMEI9 -

Regular review of the investment portfolio by the
Investment Manager to monitor the exposures.

REZLETHEREREHES  UNERRAR -

Monitoring the exposures to implement appropriate
measures on a timely and effective manner.

ERZERR  ABRELEERRIEEREE -

Monitoring the exposure and review regularly the
strategy together with the Investment Manager.
ERER - I FE B ERE LI KA
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Risks [& B

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR

n_l‘l_'

Treatment Plan(s) F& ¥ 5t &l

10.

Credit Risk 15 & & k&

Credit risk arises when the counterparty would
fail to discharges its obligation under the terms
and cause a financial loss to the Group.
EERBREHFIERERGERETEEEMS
HARBRIMBEREHE -

Interest rate risk K & & k&

Our Group analyses its interest rate exposure
on a dynamic basis and considers managing this
risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate,
through variety of means.
AEERPERESTEMNEXAR  TEREE
REBZBFRUARARGE 2 A AEREZA

A
oo
ZN

o

Investment risk 3% & & k&

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood
of occurrence of losses on any particular unlisted
investment.
BRERBRTAERTMMERELMIREREEE
ZFIEEME o

Cyber security =22
Cyber security remains a key risk trend globally.

MR NMAREZHNEIERRBE -

Liquidity risk R B & £ & k&

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will
be unable to meet its obligations when they fall
due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets.
RBECRABREAEBERRERESENESHS
EESLRMEBEEBTINHEEZ AR -

Compliance risk & iR B k&

This is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions,
financial loss, or damage to reputation that arises
when a firm fails to comply with relevant laws and
regulations.
ERERERCZEREETHBERLERMA
EHERAEENR  MBEBREAHLEEER

LA
o0
ZN

o

Continue monitoring the exposures.

+ e mE e 2 A LA
SEERZERR -

Monitoring the exposures to implement appropriate

measures on a timely and save effective manner.
ERZFRR  UAERERFEEMREEEEE -

Conducting detailed due diligence exercise.

ETHFAERES -

Monitoring and assessing the development progress
of each of the investee companies.

EELFIEEIERERRZEREN

Ongoing cyber security control enhancement to align
with industry practices and standards.
RERABEC2ETRGE  UFETEBEMNNE

% o

Holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality
to ensure sufficient cash flows to meet all financial
commitments and to capitalize opportunities for
business expansions.

BRFERR ABZRPEE  HEREARHES
MERNMAEVBAE URELEREBERES -

Monitoring and assessing the impact of regulatory
changes.

ERKHEERTEE L

B/ 48
Fa .
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BUSINESS AWARENESS, DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Through the course of their directorship, Directors are updated
on any developments or changes affecting the Company and their
obligations to it at regular Board meetings. In order to ensure that
Directors continue to further their understanding of the issues facing
the Group, the Company will further strengthen the provision of
Board training, ranging from corporate governance to regulatory

issues.

Directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution into the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Directors are committed to complying with the code
provision A.6.5 which came into effect on 1 April 2012 on directors’
training. All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by studying materials relevant to their duties and
responsibilities. The Company Secretary also provided relevant
training materials for the self-study of Directors.

DIRECTORS' LIABILITIES INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ liabilities in respect of potential legal actions against the
Directors arising out of corporate activities of the Group pursuant
to code provision A.1.8 of the new CG Code. Such directors’ liability
insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually. Throughout the
year ended 31 December 2018, no claim has been made against the
Directors.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The joint company secretaries of the Company, Mr. Leung Yiu Wah
and Ms. Cheng Suk Fun, have duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact
details are as follows:

Address:  Unit 18, 9/F., Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, 21 Man
Lok Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Email: info@hk0810.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with Board at the general
meetings of the Company

BRER - BB K
ERTEFRBGHE EFENTHETS SR
LREBREHEFEARARETAEEZEFNER
HEHERMEN  c RERETEBEINRT
AEEHRHZEE  ARAHE-FINRAE
EeRHEZBI - RERELXERUEEE
EH-
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders' meeting
Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a resolution
at the shareholders’ meeting. The number of shareholders shall
represent not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of
all shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote
at the shareholders’ meeting, or who are no less than one hundred
shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by
a statement of not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution of the business
to be dealt with at the shareholders’ meeting. It must also be
signed by all the shareholders concerned and be deposited at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 18,
9/F., Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, 21 Man Lok Street, Hunghom,
Kowloon, for the attention of the Company Secretary not less than
six weeks before the shareholders’ meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week before
the shareholders’ meeting in case of any other requisition.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice for the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by the shareholders concerned under applicable laws and rules.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special General Meeting
(the "SGM")

The Board shall, on the requisition in writing of the shareholders of
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company upon
which all calls or other sums then due have been paid, forthwith
proceed to convene a SGM.

If within twenty-one days of such deposits the Board fails to convene
the SGM, the requisitions or any of them representing more than
one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM, but any meeting so convened shall not be held
after three months from the date of the original deposit.

The Company continues to improve its corporate governance and
believes it is fundamental for the development of the Company as
well as for the benefits of the shareholders. The Board is pleased to
confirm that the Company has complied with the Code applicable
during the year.

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Rk HEBRERES

hina Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited

(the "Company”) is an investment holding company

under Chapter 21 of the Rules Governing the Listing

of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) with its principle office
in Hong Kong.

The Company is pleased to present its annual Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”) to demonstrate its
commitment to sustainable development. This ESG Report has
been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“the Guide”) of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, which covers two subject areas, Environmental and
Social.

The Guide encourages an issuer to identify and disclose ESG
information that is material and relevant to an issuer’'s business.

Accordingly, the management has decided that out of the 11 ESG
aspects suggested by the Guide, the below 8 ESG aspects are
material to the Company:

We actively encourage staff to volunteer their time to benefit local communities.
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% Busmess sustamablllty framework consists of five
overriding dimensions of economic, governance,
. .social, ethical and environmental performance.
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RE-ER #HE EEVNEREEEMAN -

Main ESG subject area

in the Guide ESG aspects Reference
ZESIFNEERRE - RER H#HER
HERERER ERERER REZEZ R
Al. Emissions Refer to the “Environmental” section of this ESG Report.
B HBHRNARE HEREMRMENREIFEELZLT °
A2. Use of resources Refer to the "Environmental” section of this ESG Report.

BIREHM HBHEHNARE HEMREABMENREIFEELZT -
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Main ESG subject area

in the Guide ESG aspects Reference
ZESIFHWEERRE - RE #HER
HERERHEE EXREBAER RNEBZ RG]

B. Social B1.
Tt

B2.

B3.

B4.

B7.

B8.

Employment

=5

Health and Safety
fEEZE

Development and
training

R M

Labour Standard
ST ER

Anti-corruption
R&R

Community

The employment matters related to compensation, recruitment
and dismissal are in compliance with the major relevant laws
and regulations.
BREEESENETMH -
ol

BELEE ENATEMBEEARRA

The office-based operation of the Company is not considered
to have significant occupational hazards. The Company has
complied with all the major relevant laws and regulations.

ZIS’AT  REUBRAEREINEFETERERNBEERS -
RRARBFHAEEEMRBEARRAH -

Refer to “Social” section of this ESG Report.
HBEHERNARE HEREABRENIHLEIREZT -
Child labour and forced labour are prohibited in the Company.

ARRBREERETIRBHST -

Refer to the “Social” section of this ESG Report.
HBEHARNARE HEREABRENIHLEIREZT -

Refer to “Social”

investment FIEERARE -
HEREE

The reporting period of this ESG Report is from 1 January 2018
to 31 December 2018. Unless otherwise specified, the reporting
boundary of this ESG Report is the same as this Annual Report.

Business sustainability framework consists of five overriding
governance, social,
environmental performance. These dimensions can be viewed
as inter-dependent, and poverty alleviation and environmental
conservation are central in sustainable development. In this
connection, corporate social responsibility emerges and, according
to World Business Council for Sustainable Development, it is defined
as the continuing commitment by businesses to behave ethically and
contribute to economic development while improving the quality
of life of the workforce and their families as well as of the local
community and society at large.

dimensions of economic, ethical and

section of this ESG Report.
HEREARENHEIEEZT -
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We are an investment company listed under Chapter 21 of the
Listing Rules and our net assets value is of relatively medium to small
size. Moreover, we only focus on investment operations with total
headcount of about 30 persons. Regarding the four ESG reporting
aspects, we have made also materiality assessment. On the basis
of that assessment and the reference to the ESG guidebook of
Business Environment Council, the ESG aspects of 1) workplace
quality on working conditions, development and training, 2)
operating practices on anti-corruption and 3) community investment
have been considered more relevant to us. Our lean office-based
operation has insignificant direct environmental impact because of
the low power, energy and water consumption.

Our Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR") Policy

CSR is viewed as a business philosophy that creates sustainable
value for shareholders by embracing opportunities and
managing risks deriving from economic, environmental and social
developments. Our CSR policy defines our long-term approach to
specific issues in our cornerstones: Workplace, Environment, Ethic
and Community, which is instrumental in enabling our business to
operate in a sustainable manner. Within each of the cornerstones,
core principles and pragmatic objectives provide guidance on
practicing CSR in our daily operations.

A.  ENVIRONMENTAL

The Company’s business is primarily engaged in investment
business. The direct impact to the environment and use
of natural resources is minimal. The Company does not
generate hazardous waste. The main contributor to the
Company's carbon footprint is the indirect greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions from electricity consumption, which is mainly
attributed to the use of lighting system, air-conditioning and
office equipment, though there is limited GHG emission due
to business trips involved by the executives occasionally.

We care for the environment by minimising the environmental
impact concerning our activities, as well as products and
services engaged. Going beyond compliance with applicable
legal requirements, we aspire to prevent pollution, reduce
waste, increase recycling and minimize natural resource use
by continually improving our environmental management
practices and measures, educating our colleagues to adopt
environmentally responsible behaviour, and promoting
environmental protection in our supply chain and marketplace.
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Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected
by our continuous efforts in promoting green measures and
awareness in our daily business operations. We adhere to
the principle of Recycling and Reducing, and implement
green office practices such as double-sided printing and
copying, promoting using recycled paper and reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance. We also increase the use of equipment
carrying Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department which save energy in the offices. The
management will review its environmental practices from time
to time and will consider implementing further eco-friendly
measures and practices in our operation to move towards
adhering to the 3Rs — Reduce, Recycle and Reuse and

enhance environmental sustainability.

A1. Emissions
The Company's operation is mainly office-based and
the Company is committed to minimizing the impact of
businesses on the environment through adopting eco-
friendly measures at the office. For example, staff is
encouraged to reduce paper consumption by double-
sided printing and reusing papers printed on one side.

Owing to its business nature, the significant air emissions
of the Group are the GHG emissions, arising from the
use of electricity and fuels derived from fossil fuels. The
total GHG emissions for the year was about 60 tonnes
in carbon dioxide equivalent.

A2. Use of Resources
In terms of energy saving measures, we adopt the
following practices at office as follows:

o Staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-
conditioning in the meeting room and the
computer at the workstation when it is not in use;

o The room temperature is maintained at a
reasonable level in summer to save energy; and

o Conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings
are arranged where possible.
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The value of underpinning is the respect of our staff and we treat our staff with fairness and respect, and maintain

a working environment to realise their full potential.

ERBECERABIEIEE - ARARFHEBFREEE T  YARIERBEUAZTDBERETES -

The Company is dedicated to sustain implementation of the
above measures, while it will explore other ecofriendly initiatives.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the electricity
consumption was about 22,900 kwh; the paper consumption
was about 0.24 tonnes; the total water consumption was about
13 cubic metre and the fuel consumption was about 24,480
litres.

B.  SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
B1. Employment and Labour Practices

1. Our values

We aims to foster a supportive and quality working
environment by upholding employment practices
that treat employees fairly and equally, safeguarding
employee rights and interests, providing
opportunities for training and development, and
facilitating meaningful communication within the
Company. The value underpinning is the respect
of our staff and we treat our staff with fairness and
respect, and maintain a working environment to
realise their full potential.
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2.  Staff Composition 2. BITHAMRK
As at 31 December 2018, we employed a total of R N\F+=-A=+—8 -
32 staff. 7N\
Age Senior Staff General Staff
& g EBRET ~®ET
No. of staff No. of staff
EIHA EIHA
Below 31 3B AT 0 0 2 8
31-40 31-40%% 0 0 5 21
41-50 41-503% 1 13 3 13
50 or above 505% 3k A £ 7 87 14 58
Total st 8 100 24 100
Gender Senior Staff General Staff
Bl SRET —RET
No. of staff No. of Staff
EI#®AE EIHA
Female % 2 22 13 54
Male S 6 78 I 46
Total st 8 100 24 100
3. Human resources policies 3. ABERBEE
Our human resources policies are internal ANEBERBEREMABRE
guidelines on the approach we adopt in managing BAAEAARENAEIE
our people. They cover different aspects of human 5l FEBRBEANER
resources management such as recruitment, ERTRISBIE - EEE -
promotion, compensation and training. We BA - FREI - KOR4
provide our employees with fair and competitive TREE AT REFEFENHFH N

remuneration to motivate them. LASE B 55 o
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B2.

B3.

B4.

Health and Safety

We do not believe that we operate in environments that
carry high risks for child labour and forced labour, as
our operations are based in Hong Kong. There is full
compliance towards labour or other relevant legislations
that prohibit child/forced labour. Health and safety issues
are also of fundamental concern to us.

Development and training

The management and implementation of the training
program should align with the strategy and mission
of the Group. The Human Resources Department and
the department heads will regularly assess the training
requirements. Training also helps colleagues learn new
skills at regular intervals, further benefitting their career
development.

Labour Standard
Operating Practices

We aim to maintain high ethical standards in the
operating practices employed in the conduct of our
business and we encourage our suppliers and business
associates to embrace high standards similar to our own.
We are also committed to maintaining good corporate
governance.

1. Operating practices — compliance with laws and
regulations

We have established policies and procedures
on compliance with laws and regulations, and
our employees are required to adhere to high
standards of business and professional and ethical
conduct. It is the Company’s policy that employees
must comply fully with all applicable laws and
regulations.

B2.

B3.

B4.
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B7.

B8.

2. Regulatory compliance

The Company gives the utmost priority to
regulatory compliance. The principles behind
the Listing Rules are to maintain confidence
in the market; to ensure investors are given
sufficient information to make a properly informed
assessment of the Company; and to ensure that
the Company can keep the investors and the public
fully informed, in a timely manner, of material
factors which might affect their interests. Thus,
compliance with the disclosure requirements for
the timely and accurate publication of annual
results and financial information is of fundamental
importance to ensure the maintenance of a fair and
orderly market. The Company continue monitoring
and assessing the impact of the regulatory
changes, if any.

Anti-corruption

The Company is committed to ensuring that no bribes,
payment or advantages are solicited from or given or
offered to any persons, whether in the public or private
sector, for any purpose, which can ensure the strict
adherence to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. We
regard honesty, integrity and fair play as the core values
that must be upheld by our colleagues at all times.

Community investment

We help to build a sustainable community by supporting
local initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the community through corporate philanthropy,
establishing community partnerships, and mobilising our
employees to participate in volunteer work.

1. Community contributions

We contribute to the communities in which we
operate and our policy will be communicated
to the Company's stakeholders, including our
employees, shareholders, and business partners.
We are committed to the continual development of
this policy and its integration into our operations.
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Education is one of our key focus areas of

community involvement

HERBBEPRH B2 HENTE R

Community investment and involvement

We strive to be a part of our communities, to
serve and contribute by promoting corporate
social responsibility. There are several focus
areas of community involvement, which are
education, poverty alleviation, health, the
elderly and culture. Thus, we contribute to Non-
Government Organizations providing welfare,
educational, recreational and cultural services to
the community.

We will also actively encourage staff to volunteer
their time and core skills to benefit local
communities. It gives employees the chance to find
out more about the social and environmental issues
and reinforce our corporate values.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is principally engaged in investment in equity
securities and debt securities of listed and unlisted securities.
During the year, there were no significant changes to the Group's
principal activities. Further discussion and analysis of these activities
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the group and an indication of likely future developments in the
group’s business can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 22 to 24 of this Annual Report. This
discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND RESTRICTIONS

The Company at all times has its own policy and procedures
regarding the investment objectives, policies and restriction, a
summary of which is set out as below:

Objectives

The Company is an investment company with the primary objective
of achieving capital appreciation as well as generating income from
interests and dividends by investing in listed and unlisted companies
in Greater China, Australia and any other countries as the Board
may direct from time to time.

Policies

The Group has adopted a diversified investment approach. A
substantial portion of the assets is invested in equity securities,
convertible bonds and debt securities issued by listed and unlisted
companies in Hong Kong as well as the PRC or such other types
of investment that provide reasonable returns. Investment policies
mainly include the following:

- When considering and identifying potential investments,
the Company will seek to identify entities with a record
of positive profit growth, strong management, and high
levels of technical expertise, and research and development
capabilities as well as management commitment to long-term
growth. At the same time, the Company is also flexible in
considering investments in companies or other entities which
are considered by the Board and the Investment Manager as
being special or in recovery situations with potential return.
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- As to the period of investment, the investments are usually
intended to be held for capital appreciation. The actual
holding period will depend on the return from investment
and the potential of listing on the Stock Exchange or other
internationally recognised stock exchanges. The Company
will, however, realise investments where the Board believes
the realisation would be in the best interests of the Company
or where the terms on which such realisation can be made
are considered by the Board as particularly favorable to the
Company.

Restrictions

In addition to the restrictions imposed under the Listing Rules
21.04(3)(a) and (b) at all times regarding the maximum percentage
and the maximum amount which the Company could invest in any
company, the Company has other investment restrictions which
mainly include the following:

- the Company may not, without the prior approval of the
Shareholders by ordinary resolution, buy or sell commodities,
commodity contracts or precious metals, except that it may
purchase and sell future contracts on stock indices and
securities which are secured by commodities or precious
metals; and

- the Company may not invest more than 30% of the company’s
assets outside Greater China to the extent of contravening
its primary objective of achieving capital appreciation by
investing in listed and unlisted companies in Greater China.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
and the state of affairs at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 73 to 170. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a dividend.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements and restated and reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 171. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has not purchased, sold or redeemed any of its own
shares during the year ended 31 December 2018.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations to charitable organization by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately HK$228,800.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 77.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had no distributable reserve
because its accumulated losses amounted to be about HK$252.1
million.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in
the below section headed “Share Options” below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company's share option schemes are set out in

note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 31 July 2012, the Company
adopted the share option scheme (the “Scheme”), which is valid
and effective for a period of ten years from the date of adoption.

Under the Scheme, the Company may grant options to, inter alias,

directors and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries and

other participants to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The movements of the options granted under the Scheme during
the year and as at 31 December 2018 were as follows:

FEERERACURMARAT | —F-/\FFH

B e
BRAARBBRETE ZHBRRNGA VB R
R MEE32 ©

BER-T——F+A=1+—-RBBI AEE
AATIRNERIE B (Z8)) HEhRM
BEIRE S+ A MR AN - RIBRHE - AA
A (LR EE) AATNREMHBAT 2 EE
RIEE R H it 5% 15 B BB LA 2B A A
15

RS AT BRI R P 2 BB R
—E-\F+-HEt+-BZENNT:

No. of share options

BREZA
Outstanding Granted Exercised  Lapsed and
as at during during cancelled Outstanding as
Grantee Position Date of Grant Exercise period Exercise price 1/1/2018 the year the year during the year at 31/12/2018
RZB-NF RZB-NE
-A-H REAXK T=A=t-H
ARA Bifr RHBH TRAE x:3c MATE  REARE  REATHE R # W AT R
HK$
oy
Lee Kwok Leung Executive Director 28/08/2015 28/08/2015 to 27/08/2018 0.431 1,600,000 - — (1,600,000) -
ZER HITES “Z-n% “E-RENAZTNRE
NAZ+N\R ZE-\ENAZTLE
11/07/2016 11/07/2016 to 10/07/2019 0475 1,600,000 - - - 1,600,000
Z-RF Z-RELAT-HE
tA+-H “E-AFLATA
291172018 29/11/2018 to 28/11/2021 0.241 - 1,600,000 - - 1,600,000
It 2 “E-\ET-AZTRHE
T-AzthB  ZF--%+-A-t/A
Ng Chi Yeung, Simon Independent Non- 28/08/2015 28/08/2015 to 27/08/2018 0431 200,000 - - (200,000) -
REH Executive Director ~ —T—H% “Z-RFNAZTNHAE
BUEHTES NAZ+N\R “B-\ENAZTLR
11/07/2016 11/07/2016 to 10/07/2019 0475 200,000 - - - 200,000
“E-RE E-RELAT-HE
tA+-R “E-NFLATA
2911172018 29/11/2018 to 28/11/2021 0.241 - 200,000 - - 200,000
“E2-0\% “E-\ET-A-ThEE
+-AZthB  ZEZ-F+-AZtN\H
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy Independent Non- 28/08/2015 28/08/2015 to 27/08/2018 0.431 200,000 - — (200,000) -
EE Executive Director ~ —Z—H% “2-RENAZTN\BRE
BUEHTES NRZtNH ZE-NENAZTLA
11/07/2016 11/07/2016 to 10/07/2019 0475 200,000 - - - 200,000
“E-RF “E-RELAT-HE
tAt—H “E-AFLATH
29/11/2018 29/11/2018 to 28/11/2021 0.241 - 200,000 - - 200,000
—2-)\E “E-N\Ft-AZTNhBRE

+-A=thH

ZZ--F+-A=+N\A
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No. of share options

BREZE
Outstanding Granted Exercised  Lapsed and
as at during during cancelled Outstanding as
Grantee Position Date of Grant Exercise period Exercise price 1/1/2018 the year the year during the year at 31/12/2018
RZB-N\§F RZB-NE
-A-H RERXK T=A=T-H
RRA B RHAH TREE e WATE REARY RERTE R HRTE
HKS
B
Florence Ng Independent Non- 28/08/2015 28/08/2015 to 27/08/2018 0431 200,000 — - (200,000 —
RER Executive Director ~ “Z—HF “2-RENAZTNBE
BUEHITES NAZTAR ZZ-\ENAZTHH
11/07/2016 11/07/2016 to 10/07/2019 0475 200,000 — - — 200,000
—Z2-RF B-RELAT-RE
tAt+-H ZE-AELATA
29/11/2018 29/11/2018 to 28/11/2021 0.241 - 200,000 - — 200,000
“E-0\% “E-\ET-AZThEE
T-AZThB ZBZ-£+-AZf/\A
Yeung Cheuk Kwong Chief Executive Officer  28/08/2015 28/08/2015 to 27/08/2018 0.431 2,500,000 — — (2,500,000) —
BER ez —Z-n% “E-nENAZTARE
NAZ+N\B ZE-\ENAZTLH
11/07/2016 11/07/2016 to 10/07/2019 0475 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
—ZZ-RF ZE-AELAT-HE
tAt-8 “E-AFLATA
2911112018 29/11/2018 to 28/11/2021 0.241 - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
“2-0\% “E-\ET-AZTHHEE
T-AZThB ZBZ-£+-AZT/A
Other employees n/a 28/08/2015 28/08/2015 to 27/08/2018 0431 3,100,000 - - (3,100,000) -
EtEE TER “E-n% “Z-REN\RZTNEZE
NAZ+N\R “B-\ENAZTLA
11/07/2016 11/07/2016 to 10/07/2019 0475 3,100,000 - — - 3,100,000
ZE-RF “E-AFLAT-AE
tA+-H “E-AELATH
29/11/2018 29/1172018 to 28/11/2021 0.241 — 3,100,000 — — 3,100,000
2N\ “E-N\Ft-AZtNEE
+-AztnB  ZF=-%t+-A=tNR
Total &3t 15,100,000 7,800,000 — (7,800,000) 15,100,000




REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Chairman and Non-executive Director:
Dr. Lam Man Chan

Executive Director:
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Ms. Florence Ng

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Dr. Lam Man Chan
and Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-
election.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2018, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing
Rules, below were the interest and short positions of the directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of part XV of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited:

EERFETBRAERAQATREMA
BrEzBRN HEROREZ2ER

kKB

R-ZE-N\F+-A=+—8B RELHHRAM
HITETAEFETESFRISNZEESTH]
NTRARBZEEREBZTHRABRARA
S EEMEREZER(EELEFLRBPERN) 2
iy - HEBROHESF  BEREZ S L
BIRGIEXVEBEI2GARRREAFTEZE
MRS RASTHNEARRREBME
RZMEBERRAPZER KRBT

Number of shares held

Name of Directors FERAEE Percentage
and Chief No. of share of Issued
Executive Officer Long Short options held share capital
ExR Position Notes  Nature of interest position positon FiIFEKRE  HERT
THEARER B W EEHE e RE g8 REESL
Lam Man Chan Chairman and Non- 1 Interests as a settlor 151,981,000 — — 23.20%

(“Dr. Lam") executive Director and protector of a
MXE(HEL]) ZERFBTES Discretionary trust

ERZERETZEITIA
RREAZER

Lee Kwok Leung Executive Director 2 Beneficial owner - — 3,200,000 0.49%
FER WITES ERBEBA
Ng Chi Yeung, Independent Non- 2 Beneficial owner — — 400,000 0.06%

Simon executive Director EGHEBEA
REH BUkHTES
Tam Yuk Sang, Independent Non- 2 Beneficial owner - - 400,000 0.06%

Sammy executive Director EGHAA
ElE BUFHTES
Florence Ng Independent Non- 2 Beneficial owner — — 400,000 0.06%
REH executive Director ELHEBEA

BURITES

Yeung Cheuk Chief Executive Officer 2 Beneficial owner — — 4,500,000 0.69%

Kwong

BEX

THEE

i
Bl

o
ant
>~
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Notes:

1. The interests are held by Goodchamp Holdings Limited, which is
directly owned by Sinowin Unit Trust (Sinowin (PTC) Inc. as its trustee),
which is 100% owned by the Richmond Trust (a discretionary trust in
which HSBC International Trustee Limited is the trustee). Dr. Lam, who
is the Chairman and Non-executive Director of the Company, is the
settlor and protector of Richmond Trust.

2. These represented the shares options granted by the Company.
Details have been set out in the above section with the header “Share
Options”.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

TRERBERESREBARAR | —T-\FFR
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1. % % # % /5 Goodchamp Holdings Limited
¥ B M % 2 & J5 B Sinowin Unit Trust
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as was known to the directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain directors and
chief executive of the Company) has, or is deemed to have, interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
as recorded in the register to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO
are set out below:

FERRREMATIREBRORBEER S
¥

R-E—N\F+_A=+—H BARRES
KITBITHRAERAM  UFAT(REHE X
HARBETEERTBITHRASRBE#
H)RARNG 2R DK ABRGF - AW
RAHRBBELENIREE SR BEKGIE336
BEEZERMZ ARSI AR

Capacity/Nature Percentage of
Name of shareholders Note  of interest Long position Short position holding
REEZH Mz BP EmME L3y KRB BERED L
Goodchamp Holdings Limited 1 Beneficial owner 151,981,000 — 23.20
EmEAA
Sinowin (PTC) Inc. 1 Interest of 151,981,000 — 23.20
controlled
corporation
REGHEEZ
R
HSBC International Trustee Limited 1 Trustee 151,981,000 — 23.20
XFEA
Note: Bt 5T

1. The interests are held by Goodchamp Holdings Limited, which is
directly owned by The Sinowin Unit Trust (Sinowin (PTC) Inc. as its
trustee), which is 100% owned by the Richmond Trust (a discretionary
trust in which HSBC International Trustee Limited is the trustee).
Dr. Lam, who is the Chairman and Non-executive Director of the

Company, is the settlor and protector of Richmond Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the directors and
chief executive of the Company are not aware of any persons who
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.

1. Z %Lz YA Goodchamp Holding Limited
A MmZ2AFJiHAThe Sinowin Unit Trust
(Sinowin (PTC) Inc. BESEAN)EEZ#EA -
MThe Sinowin Unit Trust A Richmond Trust
(K % — 18 2 # {5 5T i1 HSBC International
Trustee Limited B2 FEA)100%# B ° A A
FERIFPITEFMHEBE L BRichmond Trustz
BlSZ ARIREA ©

BEXHBEBEEN K- N\E+-F=+
—B AARERREETRABBTAES
FERMATHART 2 BIA K ARBA (5 5 BB
RERBEESRDEENEB6EEE LS
2 AR -
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

EMOLUMENTS POLICY

The emoluments policy for the Directors of the Company are
decided by Remuneration Committee, with reference to his
respective qualifications and experiences, duties and responsibilities
with the Company, the Company’s performance and the prevailing
market situation.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

INDEPENDENCY OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company
considers that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Except as detailed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the bye-laws, every Director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has maintained
directors’ liability insurance, which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group. The level of the coverage is reviewed
annually.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Man Chan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
ESRTBERZEE

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
IRRFUTES

DR. LAM MAN CHAN
PRI S L

I

Dr. Lam Man Chan, aged 69, joined the Company on 11 February 2014. He has over 30 years of
management experience and in depth knowledge of the electronics industry. He was graduated
from the World Electric Engineering College in 1969. Dr. Lam holds an honorary degree of Doctor
of Science from Armstrong University in the United States. He is currently the chairman of Ngai Lik
Group Limited (“Ngai Lik"). He is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy and overall
direction of Ngai Lik. Dr. Lam has invested in different industries, including securities broking,
finance business, hotel development, motor cycle business and properties investment. He was
granted the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong in 1994 and the World Outstanding Chinese
Award in 2005. He was once a standing committee member of Qingyuan Region Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC") and a committee member of
Guangdong Provincial Committee and Dongguan Regional Committee of CPPCC. Dr. Lam had
been the chairman and executive director of Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited (now known
as Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited) (stock code: 332), a company publicly listed on the Stock
Exchange, during the period from 1992 to 2010.

MIXBEEL > 95 RZZE—HF_A+—HMALXRA - BHEBB=-TFEELR HET
¥EFREREZB -MEBITE-NANFEFXEFRNEREH TREER - IFBEEB Armstrong University
BEBLEELTEN MEBEITRARNEEERAFAN(RNDZEE  AEFER TN D ERE
REZBEFR MEBEITTEETEANTE  PEFHFLL REXE BEEE BEEEXBR
MERETERERELR - FHR - NWNAEFER-_SEEHFERE ST IERERER
HHEARZE MEBIGHEBFETFREARBK G eR(2BEBBHIZESEBEERSE
B HERERREMEZEE®E MELTNER NN ZFEZ_Z-—ZFTF LHAREEBAA
ZARLETARABRAIHXEEERATDNEBITTFMRIERERARROMNRR 332D 2ERER
HITES -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BITEE

MR. LEE KWOK LEUNG
FERAE

I

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, aged 65, joined the Company on 8 May 2014, He is a licensed person to
carry out type 9 (asset management) regulated activity under the SFO. He has approximately
15 years of relevant experience by serving as one of the responsible officers of Silverstone
Investments Limited (“Silverstone”), the investment manager of the Company, providing
investment advisory services to and managing investment portfolios for professional/institutional
investors mainly in Greater China and Hong Kong. Mr. Lee has strong experience in portfolio
construction, portfolio management, risk assessment and investment due diligence. Furthermore,
Mr. Lee was the Managing Director of BOCI Direct Management Limited from 1992 to 1999. In
this private equity fund, he was responsible for the overall management of the fund.

Currently, Mr. Lee is the Chairman and an executive director of Mayer Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 1116) and an independent non-executive director of Imperial Pacific International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1076), both companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

FEREE S R_ZFT-—EOFAANBMARRTE - REBEIZFLHABEHROITENLEIR
ERP(REEEEE)NER BRAARRREKERAKREARAR(RADZHEF—FER
AB EBRATEMEENTEE MEREERUREFARBNEEREAAMBERO T+
TFEEEER TRLEBREFAENBEREAS REACEE RRIFGCNMREZTREELR
Bl FREER-NAN_FE-NANNAFRABGETRREETEARIAFANESTALE - K
EHBELBEESTEERBESE -
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BUFHUTES

DR. NG CHI YEUNG, SIMON
REGEL

I

Dr. Ng Chi Yeung Simon, aged 61, joined the Company on 26 November 2013. Dr. Ng is a
qualified solicitor in Hong Kong. He is a consultant of Rowland Chow, Chan & Company, a law
firm in Hong Kong. Dr. Ng holds a bachelor degree from the Manchester Metropolitan University
in the United Kingdom, a master degree in Chinese and Comparative Law, and a doctor degree
in worship studies from the Robert Webber Institute for Worship Studies. Dr. Ng is also a Part-
time Lecturer of the Department of Professional Legal Education of The University of Hong Kong.
Dr. Ng is currently an independent non-executive director of two other publicly listed companies
in Hong Kong, namely, Century Sage Scientific Holdings Limited (stock code: 1450) and Winfair
Investment Company Limited (stock code: 287).

REBELT 61 RZZE—=F+—AZTXBNAKXRA - RETAEBZEEREM - &
RBRERIT(—KEBRAIT) 2B - R18 458 E B Manchester Metropolitan University £
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MR. TAM YUK SANG, SAMMY
AEERE

I

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang Sammy, aged 55, joined the Company director on 31 December 2013. He
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Accountancy, and holds a Master of
Science degree in Professional Accountancy from the University of London. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is currently the president of Essentack Limited, a corporate strategy and
management advisory company. Mr. Tam is currently an independent non-executive director of
Huajin International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2738), a company whose shares are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

MIBEEE 558 R-T—=F T+ -_A=1T —HMNAXRAXNRES - REXNBFABEIKRE
B R URARIAZEXSHESRIEM - FREBEFHF AR SAMRERE L AN
ABEAGE BEABREI—HECEXRRLNERERAROIEERAR 2B - ERERER
MREBEABXAM LM ZARERBERZERAERAB (RMHARIR: 2738) 2 BUFFRHTESE -
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MS. FLORENCE NG
REWMLL

I

@

Ms. Florence Ng, aged 55, joined the Company on 31 December 2013. She is a solicitor of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Ms. Ng holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the
San Francisco State University, a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London and
a Master of Laws degree from the City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Ng has over 10 years of
business management experience in the high-tech industry in Canada. Ms. Ng has held senior
management positions in several computer and internet companies and she was responsible for
general management and oversaw their operations of the sales, marketing and purchasing.

REWMLZL 55 R-ZE—=F+_A=+t—BNMAKXRA - RE—ZEZBFHITTHREA -
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
THARR

DR. YEUNG CHEUK KWONG
mEEXEL

I

Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong, aged 56, joined the Company on 7 July 2014. Dr. Yeung holds a Doctor
degree of Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong with a distinction award,
a Master degree in Finance from the City University of Hong Kong with distinction, a Bachelor
degree of Science (Economics) from the University of London, a Master degree in Corporate and
Financial Law from the University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor degree of Laws from Manchester
Metropolitan University.

In early 2018, Dr. Yeung published his paper “Nonlinear Effect of Board Size on Corporate
Performance: Impact of the Cultural Backgrounds of Directors in Hong Kong” in Asia-Pacific
Journal of Financial Studies, which is a first Social Science Citation Index listed finance journal
in Asia.

BEXEL 56 RZZE—MELALHEHMARRR] - HELHEEERTAZIHERE
TEMRESHAXNSRE BERATAZcRELEN(BENE) BAABLESREL A
il « BB KRB RGF K2 @EET 2 & Manchester Metropolitan University) A8 + 2 i o

HBEETR - N\FHECSE K% /i 78 81 7)) (Asia-Pacific Journal of Financial Studies)Z &k (&E
EeRBEHCRANEGUESZEZ - AEBESUELESHNEE) (Nonlinear Effect of Board size on
Corporate Performance: Impact of the Cultural Backgrounds of Directors in Hong Kong) * it &
BRIAZNERBEBT AT ERES XK -
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Dr. Yeung has held senior management positions for about 25 years. He has extensive
experiences and knowledge in mergers and acquisitions, corporate finance, investment in various
asset classes, such as fixed income securities and equities, as well as tax planning. Dr. Yeung
is also a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an
Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Since early
2016, Dr. Yeung has been one of the licensed representatives of Silverstone which carries our
type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under SFO.

Dr. Yeung was the executive director and chief financial officer of Great Wall Electronic
International Limited (now known as EPI (Holdings) Limited) (stock code: 689) from 1995 to 2000, a
company publicly listed on the Stock Exchange. He was also the executive director, chief financial
officer and company secretary of Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited (now known as Yuan Heng
Gas Holdings Limited) (stock code: 332) from 2000 to 2010, a company publicly listed on the
Stock Exchange. Dr. Yeung is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of Ngai Lik Group Limited,
a private company controlled by Dr. Lam Man Chan, Chairman and the deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company. Dr. Yeung is also a director of China Oriented International Holdings
Limited.

Dr. Yeung has also been an executive committee member of Hong Kong Electronics Industry
Council under the Federation of Hong Kong Industries since 2015.
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Deloitte

To the Shareholders of

China Internet Investment Finance

Holdings Limited

(Continued into Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited (the "Company") and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") set out on
pages 73 to 170, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter
HRELEE

Valuations of an unlisted equity investment and derivatives of the
unlisted equity investment

FETKREARERH LTRARENTETRAZIGE

We identified the valuations of an unlisted equity investment
and derivatives of the unlisted equity investment, as a key audit
matter due to the degree of complexity involved in valuing the
unlisted equity investment and its corresponding derivatives,
the judgements and estimations required in establishing the
valuation techniques and the key inputs thereof, combining with
the significance of these balances to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole.
BABELTRARERFLETRARENTETAZHEBRRNSH
REZFR DHRNGEFRLTRARENEAENTETAZER
RS R e BRI B AERM N E T B A BUR R (F L H 6 &
bt UWERZFEHRBERUESE U BERRNEREL -

At 31 December 2018, the carrying values of the unlisted equity
instrument and its corresponding derivatives amounted to
HK$15,700,000 and HK$2,100,000 respectively, which are carried at
fair value and are classified as Level 3 financial instruments in the
fair value hierarchy.

RZB-NFF+_A=t—H FLETRATIANEARBITETER
< BRMEE 5 51 /415,700,000 7T % 2,100,000 7T + HiZ A 2 E K -
YRAREBRTOERE=ZEELRMIE -

BRELER

REBAZEENBEXHE  BREZZELSRK
MEZRAFENGAVBBRRTITREENS
He RPEERSEAMBERREAULERE
AREEZER MTeiZFTREBERE
B o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBMEERTEERRERSENG

Our procedures in relation to valuations of the
unlisted equity investment and derivatives of
the unlisted equity investment included:

BB IE LT IRAIRE MF EMBRAREITE

THZHEZEFEHE:

o examining the relevant investment
contracts for the key terms and
the relevant contractual rights

and obligations of these financial
instruments;

s HHMHEBREANZIZHRINZFR
MTAZHEBEOENMEE:

o involving our own internal valuation
specialists:

s BRHEMBEXAMGEERER:

—  to obtain an understanding of the
valuation process and techniques
adopted by the Valuer to assess if
they are consistent with industry
norms;

— THREHEEMAEDRZGHEERRF R
B - AP AERBEITEEN —
B



Key audit matter
HAREXREE

The valuations of the unlisted equity investment and its
corresponding derivatives are performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers (the “Valuer”). The valuations are dependent on
certain key inputs including price-to-earnings multiples by referring
to other similar companies, marketability discount rate, value of
the unlisted equity Investment and probability on the occurrence
of certain events. Details of the valuation techniques and key
inputs used in the valuations are disclosed in note 26(c)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements.
FELFTRAREREEEITETAZAERBLEXGHERM(EHE
BB 1) 1T AT © %?ﬁ@H%F“FIEﬁA%F BRES2EZHME
URBINTRXEE MERBUENEX FLTRARENEE
&%E ST EHRATRENE - MERMREEDABOHE EdH A BE
FIBRER & BT MR MY 52 26(c)() IR BB ©

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERBMEERTEEREERSENG

—  to evaluate the appropriateness of
the key inputs used by comparing
the key inputs to comparable
market data; and

— HEARZEERABEBZEE
M EBRRLEBREZEE A BIEN
BUTSHER : &

— to check arithmetical accuracy

of calculations pertaining to the

valuations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Lam Sau Fung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2019
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H BMARELRHEAERAT | =

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

PROFIT OR LOSS
RERRR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZE—ZF— /\F+_A=+—HLLFE

2018 2017
—E-NE —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T THT
Gross proceeds from operations EEMERIERE 6 49,188 52,417
Revenue g
Dividend income from financial ERAREFABD
assets at fair value through profit (ZArnBEFAEBR]
or loss (“FVTPL") ZeEMBEZKREKA 2,422 1,848
Interest income from debt BARLBEFAEMEZE
instruments at fair value through W ((EAAEFAR
other comprehensive income thrERRDZ2EBT
(“FVTOCI") Az F BB A 1,391 —
Interest income from available-for- Al E (TR & D)
sale ("AFS”) financial assets SRHEEZFBRA — 1,940
Interest income from financial assets T A REFTAEZRZ
at FVTPL PEEEZHERA — 275
Total revenue 42 2= 3,813 4,063
Net fair value change on financial BEARBEFAEZZ 2
assets at FVTPL BEZANEEEFE 7 (25,977) (17,994)
Other income H Aoz A 85 367
Other gains or losses Hih sk Eia 8 (424) (454)
Administrative expenses THAX (30,048) (29,440)
Other operating expenses Hh & amx (1,167) (1182)
Loss from operations ©iEEe (53,718) (44,640)
Finance costs LN 9 (122) (252)
Share of results of associates FE(R & QA A 17 — (447)
Loss before income tax & P15 B4 Al B 18 10 (53,840) (45,339)
Income tax expense Fr 45 3¢ 7 2 12 — —
Loss for the year FEEBA (53,840) (45,339)
Loss for the year attributable to ARAREEANEA
owners of the Company FEBAR 13 (53,840) (45,339)
Loss per share attributable to RATERAEA
owners of the Company BREA 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR K 8 5E OB L) (8.65) (8.40)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

%5:/\5\/

Hit2E e R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZE=—ZFT— /\F+_-_A=+—HLLFE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive (expense) income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:

Reclassification of AFS reserve upon
impairment loss recognised

Release of AFS reserve upon disposal

Release of FVTOCI reserve upon disposal

Exchange differences arising on translation
of a foreign operation

Fair value (loss) gain on:

AFS financial assets

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

Other comprehensive (expense) income for
the year, net of income tax

Total comprehensive expense for the year
attributable to owners of the Company

FEBE

Hip 2 mH (X)W
HE&AEN D RER R ZEE -

DR B e R 0B 1 /5 18 1 % AT g
HERBEEHN DR

B i & T A R4 i
AEEmMERAREFAEME
T YK 25 ek
BEBIEBELEZ

X ER
~ARE(ER) W :

At ESREE
BAREFAREMLE®
WazBEBHTA

FEHMEEAE
(A W= (BEMBRETER)

ERRAEBARGFE
2 HEAX AR

2018 2017
—E-N\E — %
HK$'000 HK$'000
i Fi T
(53,840) (45,339)
— 165

— (743)

549 =

(44) —

— 973
(1,868) =
(1,363) 395
(55,203) (44,944)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
GRa BN ER

At 31 December 2018 A—ZE—N\F+_-_A=+—H

"4“7

2018 2017
—B-N\EF —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
ASSETS 'BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property and equipment ENE L] 14 11,555 16,313
Intangible asset BVEE 15 120 120
AFS financial assets AHEEEmEE 16 — 37,756
Debt instruments at FVTOCI B RREFAEAM
PHEFEZERMEE 16 11,066 —
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABREZ
TREE 18 50,284 46,140
Interests in associates REEE NA 2w 17 — =
Deposits paid for acquisition of WEMERZRBZ
property and equipment B R ® 300 —
73,325 100,329
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEARBEFABRZ
TREE 18 44,582 66,226
Other receivables, prepayments H b e WK IE -
and deposits fﬁiﬁ%ﬁ’\ﬁ&fﬂﬁ 20 3,233 2,726
Amount due from an associate i NI E @ 22 — 2,500
Cash and bank balances " e MR TT“\uﬁﬁ? 21 30,941 22,541
78,756 93,993
Total assets EEAE 152,081 194,322
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mERERRRE

At 31 December 2018 R=—ZE— N\F+_A=+—H

76

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT THT
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the ZAATHEE A B ERE
Company
Share capital N 23 65,512 54,595
Reserves & 76,529 127,480
Total equity ERBE 142,041 182,075
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals JEET R 6,902 6,037
Secured bank loan BEARRITER 24 3,138 3,610
Obligation under a finance lease B & A AR 25 — 2,600
10,040 12,247
Total equity and liabilities EazREEAHE 152,081 194,322
Net current assets RBEEFE 68,716 81,746
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBERS 142,041 182,075

FRBENOENGEEMBBERR_"F—NLF=A
“thAEESeHERRETE  XHTI
EERERZF:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 170 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
29 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lam Man Chan Lee Kwok Leung

MR IR ZER
Director Director

EF EF



HE KA AL REE m | =

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

AR - A 4= +
IW\E]ﬁgﬁﬁ:i.Eb#&iﬁ
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZE—ZF— /\F+_A=+—HLLFE

Contributed Share-based AFS/

Share
capital

B
HK$'000
7T

Share
premium

B4R E
HK$'000
THET

surplus
(note)

L8 T
(W)
HK$'000
FA7

payments
reserve

LSIRRES
i
HK$'000
THET

Translation
reserve

ERHE
HK$'000
FH7

FVTOCI
reserve
THHE/
RANE
FrAH
2E K
R
HK$'000
THT

Accumulated
losses

RitE#R
HK$'000
TET

st
HK$'000
TET

At 1 January 2017 RZE—+5—-HF—-H 45,496 51,189 225,806 2,499 = 263 (121,236) 204,017
Loss for the year FRER — — — — — — (45,339)  (45,339)
Other comprehensive income Hib2EHm = = = = = 395 — 395
Total comprehensive income FRE2EYE(FAX)
(expense) for the year, B NRAEH
net of income tax = = = = = 395 (45,339) (44.944)
Proceeds from placing of REFRNZMEHE
new shares 9,099 14,558 = = = = = 23,657
Issuing expenses of placing of new EEEHMBH 2 ETHZ
shares = (655) = = = = = (655)
At 31 December 2017 i Sl 2
+ZA=+-8H 54,595 65,092 225,806 2,499 — 658 (166,575) 182,075
Loss for the year FRE#R — — — — - - (53,840)  (53,840)
Other comprehensive expense HEmErERY — — — — (44) (1,319) — (1,363)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ FRNZHRMZEHE
the year, net of income tax MkFEHE = = = = (44) (1,319) (53,840)  (55,203)
Proceeds from placing of REMRM 2 A
new shares 10,917 3,821 = = = = = 14,738
Issuing expenses of placing of new  EEFMBRHZETHX
shares = (427 = = = = = (427)
Recognition of share-based BRRG R
payments = = = 858 = = = 858
Lapse of share options BRELXK — = = (1,185) = = 1,185 =
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F
+-A=t+-H 65,512 68,486 225,806 2172 (44) (661) (219,230) 142,041
Note: The amount represents amount transfer from the share premium M ZEBEERERRODEERE  #8aKR

MEBNESEE - BEHBRBKOEENER
FECZHABHENAATESH AT —hEF
NA=+HZ@EH -

upon reduction of share premium amount. The detail of reasons and
effect of share premium reduction were set out in the circular of the
Company dated 30 September 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
GAREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZE=—ZFT— /\F+_-_A=+—HLLFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income
Finance costs
Depreciation
Impairment loss on AFS financial assets
Gain on disposal of AFS financial assets
Loss on disposal of debt instruments
at FVTOCI
Impairment loss on interests in
associates
Share-based payment expense
Share of results of associates
Net exchange gain
Net fair value change on financial assets
at FVTPL

Operating cash flows before working
capital changes

Increase in other receivables, prepayments
and deposits

Increase in accruals

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL

Payments for purchases of financial assets
at FVTPL

Proceeds from disposal of AFS financial
assets

Proceeds from disposal of debt
instruments at FVTOCI

Payments for purchases of AFS financial
assets

Purchase of property and equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of property
and equipment

Advance to an associate

Repayment from an associate

Bank interest income

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

REXG

B% P15 W AT &5 18

FLATIHBE R
RITH B A

BB KA

e
AHHESREE 2 RERE
HEATHRLESREE 2 W
HERAREFAELMEE
WamzBEBIAZER
2 NE s 2 BERE R

A B A7 5 50 X2
EIEBEE RR ¥4

PE 5 Uk g% AR
BAREFABSZERMEE
ZREEEFER

BEETEIAIZ
RERTRE

H Al s R - BN RIE R
g bl

F& 5t R S N

REXBHH 2R E FHE

BE XY
HEZAREFABREZ
TREEZMFHREA
BERAREFAREZ

TREE MK
HEAHEEEREEZ
PR 15 50 IR
HEZRAREAEM
2EbBEZBEHFTAZ

P 1S 5K 1R
BEAHRKESREE <K
BEDELRE

RRBYEEREDNZE
) B & 2 @) B 3R
ANETPE N

RITH B WA

REXRBELEZHETER

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FH T
(53,840) (45,339)
(12) (3)
122 252
4,949 7,849
— 165

— (743)

549 —

— 1,173

858 —

— 447

(80) (78)
25,977 17,994
(21,477) (18,283)
(507) (331)
865 1,951
(21,119) (16,663)
45,375 48,354
(49,197) (57,425)
— 32,866
20,247 —
— (7,916)
(191) (149)
(300) =
— (2,500)
2,500 —
12 3
18,446 13,233




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T THT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Bl & 55
Proceeds from placing of new shares it & ¥ AR PT 15 518 14,738 23,657
Issuing expenses of placing of new shares BEE RN 2 E1TH X (427) (655)
Repayment of obligation under a finance  {&iE gt & 1 & # &
lease (2,600) (3,361)
Repayment of a secured bank loan BEREBEERARITER (472) (460)
Finance costs B & A A (122) (252)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B & ¥ 2H <55 11,117 18,929
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBESEEMEMFHE
EQUIVALENTS 8,444 15,499
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—BzREKREFEY
AT 1 JANUARY 22,541 7,042
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EX& s & (44) —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R+ZA=+—HzB& R
AT 31 DECEMBER, REEEY
represented by cash and bank balances FEIR & MR 1T 45 o 30,941 22,541
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) is principally engaged in investment in equity and
debt securities of listed and unlisted companies.

The Company is a limited liability company continued into
Bermuda as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda.
The address of the Company's registered office is Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is Flat 18, 9/F, Block B, Focal Industrial Centre,
21 Man Lok Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company. These consolidated financial
statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors
(the “Board”) on 29 March 2019.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the
“"Group”) has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the
related Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2014 - 2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

AEEH
TEETHERASREBESRAA (AR
ANZEBEBRRARENRIFLDR
RZBAREREH -

ARalR—HBEAEREERINRNER
ETBRERRRAIZBRAT - XA
7] 2 7E ffft #% = 5 #b 4k & Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12,
Bermuda ' MEEEE MR AT B NEEAL
MRLE21RE S TEHOBEIEISE °

AAFABGHE— i AEBH AR DA
BERAT(HRAH) -

ZERABMBRERNRNRAB ZDEEE
AIL(ETDEY - ZFREMH MK
RAEFE(EFE)R_ZF-NF=A
Tt ABHETE -

ERFIRRETEEMBEREER
(&R BRERER])
REAFERHERNTTREBTE R
B3 & A

RAEE  ARBEIREKEAR (FHEAR
SENDERERAUNTHEESHMAS
([BEGFEAE]) B 2T REER
BRMGHREREA

BEMBRELENFN SRMIA
ERMBRERNZR RPAOUERARBET

BE(ERMBRERE HERSRBARE

%8¢ — 2R

F205
ERRBREENE2E AROARXZZPER
B3] iTE
AAYBREEASSE REEBYBREENEN.
ZEF] CRIEEREYBRE
EHZAERBRAY
BB QLN E8T fEREBIBRELER
2183 “E-MEZE-E-RE
BENFERE—FD
BB CIERE0% W EFRENE

BT



For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities and 2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial
assets.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1 January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts
as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at
1 January 2018 are recognised in the opening retained
profits and other components of equity, without restating

comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.

2.

BRAFAIREETEEMBREER
(BB KREER ) (&)

BRTRX A& REERBHTRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

ERAFAIREETEEMBREER
BBy HREER ) ()

ERMBREENEIRLHETA (H)

BRERERBUYBRELENEIRE
ENTERE

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9

TREARBRBMBREERNEIR R
EEEHENERcREERERA
BER-_ZE-N\F-HA—-BEIEREMAR
HINDBRE -

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities under HKFRS 9 and
HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018.

Financial
Financial assets
AFS Debt assets at FVTPL
financial  instruments  designated  required by
assets at FVTOCI at FVTPL HKFRS 9
R 5 2 Al
BROAAE BEAR HOHHAE
FARM  AAEFTA BRARE
AHEE Z2EWEZ Bie sABEZ
CREE E¥ITH tREE tREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL AL FTAEL
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF
— HKAS 39 +ZRA=+-H
— &h el
£395% 37,756 — 112,366 —
Effect arising from initial BRERERMERE
application of HKFRS 9: LRI E95RE LM
v
Reclassification BN HE
From AFS financial assets BAtHESCREE (@) (37,756) 33,086 — 4,670
From designated at FVTPL BEEREAR
AARSR (b) — — (112,366) 112,366
At 1 January 2018 R-E-\F—H—H — 33,086 — 117,036




For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

(@) AFS financial assets

From AFS financial assets to debt instruments at
FVTOCI

Listed debt securities with a fair value of HK$33,086,000
were reclassified from AFS financial assets to debt
instruments at FVTOCI, as these investments are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
of these assets and the contractual cash flows of these
investments are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding. Related fair value
gains of HK$658,000 continued to accumulate in the
FVTOCI reserve as at 1 January 2018.

From AFS financial assets to financial assets at FVTPL

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group's
perpetual securities of HK$4,670,000 were reclassified
from AFS financial assets to financial assets at FVTPL.

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL or designated at FVTPL

At the date of initial recognition, the Group no longer
applied designations measured at FVTPL for the
portfolio of equity securities which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, as these
equity securities are required to be measured at FVTPL
under HKFRS 9. As a result, these investments were
reclassified from financial assets designated at FVTPL to
financial assets at FVTPL.

RS HEN L E T
BB REER ) (&)

AHHEESHMEE

HARHETHEEEHN D HER
RAEGFABMEZEKZZ EHE
E

A 7 {8 433,086,000/ T 2 FHE
BELFHAURLESREEEN D
HAEEZAAETFAEMEER S
SREE REALZHRETINR—
FEBEXNPRFE  MzEFERX
MEZAKRBAENESRRLE
EEE MUESRENGHORES RN
EAYNAERREERSHFE o
RZE—\F—HA—B BEARE
I 25658,0008 TH# B 2T 2R A
AEFAEMEERZEFEE -

HARHETHEEEN T HER
RREFABRZZETHEE

RBEXERS B HREERFE
522 HER 4,670,000 T2 A% E
XKABLFHUHEESREEEZF
DEERRAABEFABRZE/RE
E‘E o

BARERFABSEZESHEE
FEERAAEBTFABEZE
mMEE
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(c)

Impairment under ECL model

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
bank balances, other receivables, other deposits
and amount due from an associate, are assessed on
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") basis as there had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group's debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly
comprised listed debt securities that are with relatively
high credit rating.

As at 1 January 2018, no credit loss allowance was
recognised against accumulated losses or FVTOCI
reserve as the ECL was found to be insignificant.

Amendments to HKAS 28 as part of the Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

The amendments clarified that the election to measure at

FVTPL an investment in an associate that is held by an entity

that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity,

is available for each investment in an associate or joint venture
on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initial recognition.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
elected to measure an investment in an associate at FVTPL in
accordance with HKFRS 9 as disclosed in note 18.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

BRAFAIREETEEMBREER
(TEByBREER]) ()

CHEMEEREROHTREBITERE
M HEER

AEEYEREFEATINEB/MERER
ERHHE RGBT B AN B RERER

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 16 Leases' ERMBRERE T HE
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® EBUBHREERNETR RRED
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax EE(BARTEREREZ MEHERER
Treatments' 8g)— REBE3R AR
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business* ERTBEREENEI R EBNTER
EHI
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative ERUBREENE)R, HBBREZ
Compensation' ] AR H M
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between BAMKREELF0R RKEFEHABLNT

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint R &S @ &t &R 5285 FEEDE ZHN
Venture? ZIBF] BEH ST A2
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material® BERGHENBIRREE EAMNTES

HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 19

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or

SR ERER 2 EFT
BRGHAEARR L

SEIEET AR

Settlement! BT #iE
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and BEREFENENBR . REBEAAReER
Joint Ventures' 5 FIREBER
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to ERUBRERA 2B BAMBEREED
HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle' —T-1%
—tZEAHE
£ BUE

E-NF-A-HAZEFRBZF

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January !

R=
2019 [ HA R A 3
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 2 RE B Bi sk 2 & [ 16 60 6 5 B A 3
determined
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January E RZTEZ—F—A—HakZ&HABZF
2021 [ B A 3
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for 4 HKBRARR T -_TF—A—Hzz

‘AR EESE SRR 2R OER
EOHREBEERBER
R-B_TFE-—A—HR2ERRBZF
JZ 5 A 2

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the

first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 8
2020
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgements. The amendments also
align the definition across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 January 2020. The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group but may affect the presentation
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback
transactions to be determined based on the requirements
of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset
should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes
requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
operating lease payments as operating cash flows. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion

which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an
asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease
arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands
where the Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16
may result in potential changes in classification of these
assets depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use
assets separately or within the same line item at which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$281,000 as disclosed
in note 33. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of approximately HK$69,000 as rights under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition
of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may
be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits paid would be considered as additional lease
payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and
by the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share Based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZEZF
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
In addition,
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on

for financial reporting purposes, fair value
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
° has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control nor joint control over those policies.

The results, assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the Group elects
to measure the investment at FVTPL within the scope of
HKFRS 9 upon initial recognition. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and OCI are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of loss of associate exceeds
the Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interest that, in substance, forms part of the Group's
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of investment over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in the profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group accesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investments. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including state-managed retirement schemes in the People’s
Republic of China (the "“PRC”) and Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to
contributions.

Equity-settled Share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share based payments
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before income tax as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
because of items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transaction. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of the monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

Property and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of the
assets less their residual value over its estimated useful life,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.
However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership
will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives.

Intangible asset representing a club membership with
indefinite useful life that is acquired separately is carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible, intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible asset with indefinite useful
lives is tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets
are estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
(or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Proceeds from sales of listed equity securities are recognised
on a trade-date basis. Proceeds from sales of unlisted equity
security are recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of such ownership is transferred.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions
in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions
in note 2) (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
OCI if that equity investment is not held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions
in note 2) (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments at FVTOCI as a result of interest income
calculated using the effective interest method, and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these debt instruments are recognised in OCl and
accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI reserve.
Impairment allowances are recognised in profit or loss
with corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing
the carrying amounts of these debt instruments. The
amounts that are recognised in profit or loss are the same
as the amounts that would have been recognised in profit
or loss if these debt instruments had been measured
at amortised cost. When these debt instruments are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions
in note 2) (continued)

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. In addition, the Group
may elect to measure investments in associates at FVTPL
upon initial recognition. Such election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “net fair value change on financial
assets at FVTPL" line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including debt instruments at FVTOCI, other receivables,
other deposits and cash and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL,

unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk

since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised

is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events of default that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit

impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount. For debt instruments at FVTOCI, the loss
allowance is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying amount
of these debt instruments.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified

categories: financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial assets

and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the

nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined

at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is held for trading or it is designated as
at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)
(continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)
(continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets and is included in the 'net fair value
change on financial assets at FVTPL' line item. Fair value
is determined in the manner described in note 26(c)(i).

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as AFS or are not classified as loans and
receivables or financial assets at FVTPL.

Debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in the
carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets
relating to interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, and changes in foreign exchange
rates, if applicable are recognised in profit or loss.
Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial
assets are recognised in OCI| and accumulated under
the heading of AFS reserve. When the investment
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
AFS reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment of financial
assets below).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)
(continued)

(iii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including amount due from an
associate, other receivables and deposits and cash and
bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation;
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 January 2018) (continued)

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets.

When an AFS financial assets is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in
the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a debt instrument at FVTOCI upon
application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an AFS financial assets, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the AFS reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liability and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liability and equity (continued)
Financial liability at amortised cost

Financial liability (representing secured bank loan) is
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Leases are classified as finance lease whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or,
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as obligations
under a finance lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element separately
based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
property is accounted as an operating lease.

KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and the key source of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial assets at FVTPL

Certain of the Group’s financial assets, including an unlisted
equity investment and derivatives of the unlisted equity
investment amounted to HK$15,700,000 (2017: nil) and
HK$2,100,000 (2017: nil) respectively as at 31 December
2018, are measured at fair value by an independent firm
of professional valuers (“Valuer”) with fair values being
determined based on unobservable inputs using valuation
techniques. Judgements and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the
relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to
these factors could affect the reported fair values of these
instruments. See note 26(c)(i) for further disclosures.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's principal activity is investment in equity and debt
instruments. The Group’s business activity is organised into
one single segment, investment holding. For the purpose
of resources allocation and assessment of performance,
management regularly review and manage the Group's
investment portfolio, including debt instruments at FVTOCI
and financial assets at FVTPL. Information regularly provided
to the management mainly includes fair value of respective
investees and the investment income, no further discrete
financial information was provided. The Group’s financial
assets and other investments holdings are managed and
evaluated on a portfolio basis for listed securities and
investment-by-investment basis for unlisted investments.
Therefore, no segment information is presented other than
entity-wide disclosures.

The Group's revenue is generated from operation in Hong
Kong.

The Group's non-current assets (excluding AFS financial assets,
debt instruments at FVTPL, financial assets at FVTPL and
interests in associates) are located in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. GROSS PROCEEDS FROM OPERATIONS 6. EEMBREAHE
Gross proceeds represent investment income of the Group FIERIBRERRAEE 2REWAL
and gross proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL, REEREAABFAEGCEREEZ
as follows: 8@ sRIBABRE - I NATR:

2018 2017
—E-—N\E —T—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TR

Gross proceeds from disposal of financial HEEAABEFTAEZZ S

assets at FVTPL MEEZFSRIBEE 45,375 48,354
Dividend income from financial assets BAREFAEBZEZCRE
at FVTPL B2 REW A 2,422 1,848
Interest income from debt instruments at %A A EFA E 42 H U 2=
FVTOCI ZEBEBITAZHBWA 1,391 —
Interest income from AFS financial assets A HE SR EE 2
PSR @N — 1,940
Interest income from financial assets BAREFAEBZEZCRE
at FVTPL EZ A BB A — 275
49188 52,417
7. NET FAIR VALUE CHANGE ON FINANCIAL ASSETSATFVIPL 7. BAAREBEFAERZRZERMEEZLAR
EHEEFH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Fair value change on listed FARAEF AAEE
equity securities (27,276) (17,.994)
Fair value change on listed perpetual EAKABEHFZ
securities NV ) (501) —
Fair value change on an unlisted equity 3EETMRAEE 2
investment UNUIER- ) 3,000 —
Fair value change on derivatives of an FELEMBRAZE Z2ITETH
unlisted equity investment ZANIEEE (1,200) —

(25,977) (17,994)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERIE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

8.

9.

OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

8. HitthmHER

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Exchange gain B 5, 4 &5 125 141
Gain on disposal of AFS financial assets HEAHEESHEE 2
Wz — 743
Loss on disposal of debt instruments HERAABEFTAEMEE
at FVOCI Wa BB TAZER (549) —
Impairment loss on AFS financial assets At ESHEE 2
(B & 18 — (165)
Impairment loss on interests in associates REF&E AF] 2w 2
BB 85 18 — (1,173)
(424) (454)
FINANCE COSTS 9. WEME
2018 2017
—E-N\E S
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Interests on a secured bank loan EEMERZ BTN 85 97
Interests on a finance lease BEMEZF A 37 155
122 252
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. RITERAEBE

The Group's loss before income tax is AN ER B bR PS4 AT B 18 A8 4

2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000
FET

2017
=
HK$'000
FB T

arrived after charging (crediting): BGtA)THIIER
15 i -

Auditor’s remuneration % 2R B & 800 720
Depreciation e 4,949 7,849
Donation B 229 433
Employee benefit expenses excluded BERAFX

share-based payment expense (T BB M RAX) 15,992 15,322
Share-based payment expense & A7 7 R 2 858 —
Total employee benefit expenses E RN X A% 16,850 15,322
Custody services fees (note) TEREE (K ) 77 105
Investment management fees (note) KEEERSB () 600 600
Bank interest income RITH B U A (12) (3)

Note: They were de-minimise continuing connected transaction of Mizr: R EWRABUATINEBR

the Company under Rule 14A.73(1) of the Listing Rules.

A A R AE B R AR B0 35 A A

5 o

ZIN/N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

11.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Directors’ remuneration
— fees
— salaries and allowances
— contributions to retirement
benefit schemes
— share-based payments

Chief executive officer's remuneration
— salaries and allowances
— contributions to retirement
benefit schemes
— share-based payments

Staff remuneration
— salaries and allowances
— contributions to retirement
benefit schemes
— share-based payments

1.

E5Me

— 8%

— F a2 MOER

— BRI FH & H

— R

TR E BN &
— He RAER
— RREF G &

— B9 3K

EEWNE
— F e RER
— RAREF 5 &) 5K

— B 3

BEERBANRAX

2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000
FET

2017
—E—+tF
HK$'000
FH T

1,926 1,326
1,002 1,275
18 18
252 —
3,198 2,619
3,375 2,851
19 18
285 —
3,679 2,869
9,411 9,580
241 254
321 =
9,973 9,834
16,850 15,322

119



CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—ZT—N\F+-_A=+—HIEFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 1N. BEERABAX(E)
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, EERTHARCFEME HIRIEEA
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the EmABAUNEEBLFEOHIFEERT o

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows.

The remuneration of each of the directors and chief executive AR SEEMTHRAREE_ZT—N\F
officer of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 TZRA=t—RIEFEZMEEINWT :

is set out below:

Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit  Share-based

Fees allowances schemes payments Total

&K A
wE HERERW sTEHR RO AR 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TERT TET TERr TET

Chairman and Non-executive ERFHHTEE

Director
Lam Man Chan MR 1,440 462 — — 1,902
Executive Director HITEE
Lee Kwok Leung ZHR - 540 18 183 741

Independent Non-executive BUFHTEE

Directors
Ng Chi Yeung Simon REH 162 — — 23 185
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy ERE 162 — — 23 185
Florence Ng RERH] 162 — — 23 185
Chief Executive Officer TR AEH
Yeung Cheuk Kwong BEX - 3,375 19 285 3,679

1,926 4,377 37 537 6,877




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERIE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

11.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 1. EEFAMAX(E)
The remuneration of each of the directors and chief executive HE_Z—+tF+-A=T—HIEFE "
officer of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 RARBIBESERITREZ 2 M S #H 5
is set out below: N

Contributions
to retirement

Salaries and benefit  Share-based
Fees allowances schemes payments Total

R
e HekEH at Bl R dn i 3% )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TRER TRT TR

Chairman and Non-executive ITEFIHTEE

Director
Lam Man Chan R 840 735 = = 1,575
Executive Director HITEE
Lee Kwok Leung ZHBR = 540 18 — 558

Independent Non-executive BUFHITEE

Directors

Ng Chi Yeung Simon RER 162 = = = 162

Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy BB 162 = = = 162

Florence Ng REH 162 = = = 162

Chief Executive Officer TH AR

Yeung Cheuk Kwong BEL — 2,851 18 — 2,869

1,326 4126 36 = 5,488

The executive director’'s and chief executive officer’s AT EERTHRAENM S EER
emoluments shown above were for their services in connection BEREEAQNA RANEBE EHATREHE
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the R o FIIERITEERBILIENIT
Group. The non-executive director’s and independent non- EENM e R BN EEAKRR T 5k HH
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their BARES S MR HE 2R -

services as directors of the Company or its subsidiaries.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FRAVTEEEFNESIRERETAINE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2017: nil). CRPE(ZE—+F 8 AEERFR
No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to the BMEENKENARRESETHN  EA
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon 3| A0 A Sk 7 0 A AR &R B I g 4% B ok 1
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during RERBECE—LF:8)-

the year (2017: nil).
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include two (2017: two) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2017: three)
individuals during the year are as follows:

1.

EEERR<(E)
LEBREHFAL

FRAEBRLARSHALTREMRE (=
T L5 ME)EF BEZHMEOR
EXFREF A RRER o AT T
ZH(CE—LF ZR)ENALZHE
mT

Salaries and allowances e MR
Mandatory provident fund contributions 58 il 14 AT & &
Share-based payments & A7 1< 3K

2018 2017

= e
HK$'000 HK$'000
T it
6,354 5,544

55 54

369 —

6,778 5,598

The emoluments of the above three (2017: three) highest paid
employees fell with the following bands:

FPR=2(CE—tF :ZR)&=2FES
ZHEBRIATEHE:

Number of employees

BEAH

2018
—E-N\F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,000% 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T &
1,500,0007% 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T £
2,000,000/ 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T &
2,500,000 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7T &
3,000,0007% 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 ¢ &
4,000,0007% 7T

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to the
five highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during
the year (2017: nil). There was no arrangement under which the
five highest paid employees waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2017: nil).

FR AEBRYERNARESHFEEX
N EMERBE - 1EARSIEMAR
SEFIRMARZ BSHABMBEE(CT
—+tF B -FERN VERALRSH
BEREXRERELAMESIEHTHE
(ZE—tF:8])-
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12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

B HA P 15 A2
— BEMNEH

Current income tax
— Hong Kong Profits Tax

M B B B4 MEBRARAGT | =

12. FEHRAX

2018 2017
—E-N\EF

—E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FB T

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as
there is no estimated assessable profit for both years.

R-ZZE—N\F=A=-+—H BEBIUEE
BECE—EFHBEUEED(ETH) K
PIEZRYEBIEZR]) - 5| AR 15 TR R
o EHERR-_ZE—N\FE=ZA_+N\H
RERELE  TRBHTE - BREFG
MWmAS - &EEEEEEH2000000
78 TC 2 5t M A5 IR B R 8.25% 51 F1 0 M AR 1B
2,000,000 7T 2 & Fl #% 2 B %£16.5%
e AEFEHEHMRAHZERETE 2
Sin M) 4 A R 4 — B R16.5% R B o

ARRIEZTR R REEF S B/ RS
BHERZEEUEAMBHRERME LD
EXR-FBEMNEHR M EFE 2 5
&R B 0m M 216 5% 51 & o

RBHECEMETOE(REMBHIED
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A7 M fE 4 JE B B R A325% ©

B fth 7 1 4 I B 2 1O B TR R4 B RO
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B W fE 4 B R AT AR TR A - B
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12. FisHExX(E)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to loss REEMGHAZERAESHAERE 2
before income tax as follows: HEEMT

124

2018 2017
—E-N\F T+t F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Loss before income tax & BT 15 B4 AT B 18 (53,840) (45,339)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong Profits Tax & & /& F 15 % £16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) ZE—tF165%) 2
BEGFEZBIA (8,884) (7,481)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax FF M E TR A 2
purposes HETE (714) (402)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BB MS TANRRAY 2
for tax purposes HEEE 514 297
Tax effect of share of results of associates JE{GEE & AR ¥4 2
MIRF & — 74
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMBEREZ
MIAY & 8,724 6,786
Others Hity 360 726
Income tax expense for the year RNEEMFRAX — =




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERIE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

13.  LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 13.

COMPANY
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

Loss for the year attributable to owners ANEEARQATEEGA

of the Company PE 4L & 8
Loss for the purpose of basic and ARETEERERK
diluted loss per share HEEEEE

AREERAREERER

ARABEBEARIEERERAR B EER
ZETETERT ISR :

2018 2017
—E-N\E

—T—tF
HK$'000
THT

HK$'000
FTERT

(53,840) (45,339)

B & B
RARAEEREREBRZ
R L RSl 2

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic loss
per share

Effect of potential dilutive ordinary shares:
Shares issuable from the Company’s

share option (note)

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the purpose of diluted loss T AR N HE

per share

Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents) & % & 7K & # 58 /&5 18
(B AL)

BEESEARZEE:
RBARBERER]T
172 Bedn (B E)
RARAEESREIERL

622,221 539,470
622,221 539,470
(8.65) (8.40)

Note: The Company had 15,100,000 (2017: 15,100,000) outstanding
share options as at 31 December 2018. The computation
of diluted loss per share for both years did not assume the
exercise of share options because the adjusted exercise prices
of those options were higher than the average market price
for shares in that year.

fieg: R-ZE-N\F+-_A=+—H KxQ7FA
2 15 AN 1T 152 8 X 42 7315,100,00017 (=
T — + £ :15,100,00017) ° MR {6 F &
ZEREEERAENERRITER
Bt ARZERERENKRHBITE
ERRZFERMDNTFATE -
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. MERRE

Leasehold Office
land and Leasehold furniture Motor

buildings  improvement and fixtures vehicles Yacht
NS

HEL# HEME iR
kBT £ EEHE nE i At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETL TET TET TET TET TET

COST B 2
As at 1 January 2017 RZT—+F—F—H 13,257 1,676 575 4,571 16,440 36,519
Additions NE — — 15 — 134 149
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—t&+=-A=+—H 13,257 1,676 590 4,571 16,574 36,668
Additions NE — 58 65 = 68 191
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+=ZA=+—H 13,257 1,734 655 4,571 16,642 36,859
ACCUMULATED Rt E
DEPRECIATION
As at 1 January 2017 RZZ—+F—-H—H 1,282 706 286 2,940 7,292 12,506
Charge for the year FRE MK 530 335 97 1,382 5,505 7,849
As at 31 December 2017 RZZ—tE+=RA=+—H 1,812 1,041 383 4,322 12,797 20,355
Charge for the year FRE MK 530 343 104 249 3,723 4,949
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+=A=+—H 2,342 1,384 487 4,571 16,520 25,304
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
As at 31 December 2018 RZ=ZE-N\F+=-A=1+-—-H 10,915 350 168 — 122 11,555
As at 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+t&+-_A=1+—H 11,445 635 207 249 3,777 16,313
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows: MUFAFEAZ EZFEMT
Leasehold land and buildings 25 years HE T RETF 25%F
Leasehold improvement 5 years or over the lease HEMEEE 54 5k 1% 10 49 F H3
term if less than 5 years (HE D P5F)
Office furniture and fixtures 5 years R ERM R 54
ERE
Motor vehicles 3 years aE 3F
Yacht 3 years 7 i 3F
As at 31 December 2018, the office premise with a carrying RZE-—NF+_A=+—H KHHE
amount of approximately HK$10,915,000 (2017: approximately 4 7%10,915,000% T(Z & — £ F: &
HK$11,445,000) was pledged for a bank loan. 11,445,000 L) Z M AENHEE T — £

RITERMER -
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14.

15.

16.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the net book value of
yacht held under finance lease of the Group was approximately
HK$122,000 (2017: approximately HK$3,777,000).

INTANGIBLE ASSET

COST AND CARRYING AMOUNT
As at 1 January 2017,
31 December 2017 and 2018

B K BR H B
R-_TE—t+F—H—H"
—E—tFER-_F-NF
+=-—A=+—H

14.

15.

MERZEE)

RFEHR AEERERERERSE
2R 2 BREDFE X &122,0000 T (=&
—+4F : 493,777,000 7T) °

BREE

Club membership
PR

~

HK$000
TAET

120

The club membership is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment. The directors of the Company considered no
impairment loss recognised as the recoverable amount is
greater than its carrying amount.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI/AFS FINANCIAL ASSETS

Listed debt securities FHEERE S
— Hong Kong — 5B
— Outside Hong Kong — BHBEH

16.

BLeBRRANMEG R REIRE -
ARBEER R ARNETHREESER
RERAEE R ERIBBEEE -

BRAAEFAEMZAKSEZERT
R/AftHESHEE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F

—E—+tF
HK$'000
TAT

HK$’000
TERT

8,327 28,094
2,739 9,662
11,066 37,756

The above investments are dominated in United States Dollars
("US$"). As at 31 December 2018, the maturity dates of all of
the listed debt securities are beyond one year after the end
of reporting period.

LB EART(ERTDEE R=ZF—
NFTZA=+—R MELTEBES
ZEHMEGABERRKE-—FAL

® A

o
[3)

127
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17. RBEDQR2ER

17.  INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

128

2018 2017
= —N\F —E—+F
HK$OOO HK$'000
THERT FET
Unlisted equity shares, at cost (note 1) FEETRERRG - AR
(B =ED 9,000 9,000
Share of post-acquisition losses and J& 18 W B 12 B 48 K2
other comprehensive income, H 2 Uk 2
net of dividends received kB WAk & (4,530) (4,530)
Impairment loss (note 2) A B 18 (M 5E2) (4,470) (4,470)
Notes: B 5
1. Included in the cost is goodwill of HK$4,613,000 (2017: il. B 78 K 7R B 3 7 24,613,000 T (=
HK$4,613,000). T — 4 1 4,613,000 7T) ©
2. During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, in 2. BE_Z-\FR-_ZF-—tFT_-_A=

determining whether the interests in associates are impaired,
the Group measures the difference between the carrying
amounts and the net present value of the estimated future
cash flows generated from these associates. In view of
continuing loss-making performances of these associates, the
management expects that no estimated future cash inflow
could be generated from operations and proceeds from the
ultimate disposal of these associates in the foreseeable future.
Based on the management’s assessment, impairment loss of
HK$1,173,000 on interests in associates was recognised in profit
and loss of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2017. No reversal of impairment loss was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

+—BLEFE - %%m%%@?%ﬁm
BRER  AEEFEZSHEAAE
MBI RRB 2R ECREERFH
BZHENERE - ERRSHEQRZHE
BEERE  EEEEHRITRRRE
BERBEREEZSHE DR ZMBRIA

RATREEEMETRARBALRA © 1BIE
EEEMMG  BEARERREERE
1,173,000 TEREBE=FT—+tF+=
A=t—BLEERTEEEZER -
REBZE=FE—N\E+=-A=1+—H1*F
EMERRAEREBEEE -
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17.  INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Details of the Group's primary associate at 31 December 2018
and 2017 are as follows:

17. RBERR 2z (F)
N _E-NFR-ZF—+tF+A=+—
H RAEENFEBRERARANFBN

T~
Proportion of Proportion of
Place of Form of Class of ownership interest held voting rights held
Name of Associate incorporation  legal entity shares held by the Group by the Group Principal activity
HERE PR B AEERSHEEEER AEBFRIFERRE
BENRAH EMRIBE X B3 2Lt hi 2Lt hi TEXH
2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-\f —E—+F ZB-\f —ZT—LF
Superb Kingdom Hong Kong Limited liability ~ Ordinary 30% 30% 30% 30% Sale of LED
Limited B AREME &Rk lighting products
BEEBRAA HELEDRBEm

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually BRTEREACHENRGEER

material

2018
—E-N\F

2017
—T—+F
HK$'000
FBT

HK$'000
FERT

AEBEREHERLEEBZ

The Group's share of loss from continuing

operations (! — (447)
The Group's share of other comprehensive 7S 5 B f& (5 Bt 2 [ W &=

income — —
The Group's share of total comprehensive ZN%5 & & (L2 H > 858

expense — (447)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
interests in these associates

The unrecognised share of loss of
associates

Cumulative unrecognised share of loss of
associates

AEBERZEHZ NE S
ZHBREE

KRR B E AFEB

(763) —

RETRERZEIEHE QT
& 18

(763) —
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18.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Listed equity securities FHRAE H
— Hong Kong — &8
— Australia — BN
Listed perpetual securities ETKAREFH
Unlisted equity investment FEETRAKRE

Derivatives of an unlisted equity
investment

Analysed for reporting purposes as: HBEMAITR -
Current assets mENE E
Non-current assets EMBE E

BRAREFABERZERMEE

FLHEARETETA

2018 2017
—F-N\F —F L
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET
72,623 112,077

261 289

4,182 —
15,700 —
2,100 —
94,866 112,366
44,582 66,226
50,284 46,140
94,866 112,366

Fair values of listed equity securities in Hong Kong are
primarily based on their quoted bid prices in active markets,
while that in Australia are primarily based on the Group’s own
assumptions about market exit value.

Fair values of unlisted equity investment are determined using
a valuation technique that is classified as Level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy.

On 8 June 2018, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with third parties to subscribe 14% of new shares
in the issued share capital of China Oriented International
Holdings Limited (“China Oriented”) at a consideration of
HK$16,000,000. China Oriented was incorporated in the
Cayman lslands and is principally engaged in the provision of
driving training services in the PRC. The Group has the right
to appoint one director to the board. As at 31 December 2018,
China Oriented had three directors on the board, including
one director being appointed by the Group. The quorum for
the board meetings shall be any two directors. All decisions of
the board shall be by a simple majority vote of the directors.
Based on the assessment by the management, the Group has
significant influence over China Oriented, and therefore the
investment is considered as an associate of the Group. The
Group has elected to measure the investment in this associate
at FVTPL. As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of this
unlisted equity investment amounted to HK$15,700,000.

FERELTRAZHFZAAEITERERN
RBTISZWE RN EHRAE S
ZARNEBEFERERAEEEFH TS
RENRRK -

FETHRAREZAREDNERIER
F_BOARNERBIHERMEE °

R-ZZE—NERNANE KREBEFE=FH
SN RERE - ARBRPERIERER
AR (A B 37 A 2 14% 5 % 7
R AB 516,000,000/ 7T ° MR RFHSES
ARy EERERPEIREERE
RS - AEBERIEE—BEENA
EFg R _ZET—)/\F+-_A=+—8"
MPEEEA-_R2%  BEAEERT
2 REZ -BECEHMAREEATEA
HEABTMNMBESE BESHMARK
BANEENBHERZHKREFAKRR -
BEEEENTGH AEBHRAPEE
ATE)  MZKREWR A KREE R
BNE  c AEBERERNMEBERARANIEK
ERARBEFABENARAE - R
E—NFE+_A=+—8 RUIIFLTR
A& & KA S {E £A15,700,0000% Tt °
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18.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (CONTINUED)

On the same date of the subscription agreement, the Group
entered into a shareholders’ agreement and was granted by
one of shareholders (the “Shareholder”) of China Oriented a
put option, an earn-out option and a call option over 14% of
the shares. Regarding the put option, the Group has the right,
but not the obligation, to require the Shareholder to buy back
all the shares subscribed at the original consideration paid (i.e.
HK$16,000,000) plus an interest of 15% per annum. The put
option is only exercisable upon occurrence of certain events
(“Put Events”) on or before 31 December 2019. Regarding the
call option, if a put event has occurred but the Group does
not exercise the put option within 90 days from the date of
occurrence of the Put Events, the Shareholder shall be entitled
but is not obliged to require the Group to sell all of the shares
held. Regarding the earn-out option, the Shareholder shall pay
monetary compensation to the Group if China Oriented fails
to achieve certain earning target.

As at 31 December 2018, this certain earning target has been
achieved by China Oriented, the Shareholder is not required to
pay any monetary compensation and therefore the fair value of
earn-out option is nil. Under the assumption of a probability of
50% on the occurrence of Put Events, the aggregate fair values
of the put option and call option amounted to HK$2,100,000.

As at 31 December 2018, an amount of HK$50,284,000 (2017:
HK$46,140,000) is classified as non-current assets as the
management of the Group expects that such amount may not
be realised within twelve months after the reporting period.

18.

BARBEFABRZZERMEE(E)
RRBEHEER A&EY—BRRE
ek - WAHRAHEF —ZRE(KE])
BTREBERAT G DEE WER
FZ14% K BRI REEHAE o BLR0H Hi i
ms AEEBAE(BEST) ERBREE
B % B 5 X & (B116,000,0007% 7T) H115%
ZEFEBEOEREZ MG - BIA
HEERE-_ZT—NF+_A=+—8
NZABEEETEHE(REEHD A
TE-ZRREHE MBERLSH
1B 7 & @ 3 4 70 3 A R0H B4 2 B #£90
BATTERERE  BIREEERE(BER
PERAEBHERFTAENE KD -
MEFENBEENS  WESRB PR
REIETRMNBERMNASESZHE
B (S o

R-ZZE—N\F+-A=+—8 AT
RZBFERE  REESINERELHE
EREEAFNENBEZARBEAS -
1R 5 B 4 R 0H B 1 2 50% H) B =R & 51
RnHEAREHRRBEZAALBERESR
2,100,0007% JT °

R-ZBE-NEFE+_A=+—8 £ 4
50,284,000/ JT (=& — + 4 : 46,140,000
BB ERERBEE  NEAAEHE
EREERHZSBEUERNRSHE T
A ARTEEEIR -
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE 19. *EERFEZETEREZEHR
GROUP
Particulars of major investments held by the Group as at REEBR_ZT—-/\F+_A=+—BHF
31 December 2018 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of ZEBEREZEHMTDIBE LR AE2
the Listing Rules are as follows: ERBOAT:

Percentage

of investment

Net assets Dividend/ attributable

Nature of Interest  attributable Invested Carrying interest to the Group's

Name of equity/debt securities business held  to the Group amount amount received  total assets

RAREM ERBRE/

(EBES LR xB1E fi gD BE) RER REE M E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(%) TET TET THL THAL

Financial assets at FVTPL
BAREHABR 2 BEE

Unlisted equity investment

FLETRARE

China Oriented note a 14.00 11,508 12,700 15,700 — 10.32
Bk BT

Listed equity securities

FHRAES

Newtree Group Holdings Limited ("Newtree Group”) note b 1.05 3,772 10,818 13,436 = 8.83
RINEBERERAR(RIIEE]) M &b

HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC") note ¢ 0.001 12,851 13,770 11,664 587 7.67
ELzRaRAR(ES]) MisEc

Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent Holdings") note d 0.0003 958 4,032 7,850 31 516
EaERERAR(EAZR]) Mz

AIA Group Limited (“AIA Group”) note e 0.0007 2,269 4984 5,850 93 3.85
RARBRERERAR(RARR]) Mize

Sa Sa International Holdings Limited (“Sa Sa International”)  note f 0.05 1,374 4,842 4736 224 3N
BHAREREBAA(HIER]) B

Jete Power Holdings Limited ("Jete Power”) note g 2.80 1,095 25,676 4,214 = 2.77
FenRERAR(EE]) Mg

Smart-Core Holdings Limited (“Smart-Core”) note h 0.44 2,482 4,030 3,765 110 248
TRERERAR(TE]) M &Eh

Sands China Limited (“Sands China") note i 0.001 383 2979 3,087 179 2.03
ePREFRAA(EYHE]) i i

Debt instruments at FYTOCI

BAREGFARME AN m 2 EHFIA

Listed debt security

thEERS

King Power Capital Limited ("King Power") note j N/A N/A 3,550 3,309 176 2.18

i3] TER FER

87,381 73,611 1,400
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE 19. AEERE2TERECER (E
GROUP (CONTINUED)
Particulars of major investments held by the Group as at AEERBEETRAUWFENERENR_-FT
31 December 2017 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of —t+tF+ A=+ —HRAZEITERE
the Listing Rules are as follows: BRI

Percentage

of investment

Net assets Dividend/  attributable to

Interest  attributable to Invested Carrying interest the Group's

Name of equity/debt securities Nature of business held the Group amount amount received total assets

7N 8

ARF M BKRE/ BERK
XB1HE GIEST E BEZE BREE REE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) FTEL FET FET FET

Financial assets at FVTPL
BAREHABR 22 BEE

Listed equity securities

LHREES
Newtree Group note b 197 8,352 20,086 21,528 = 11.08
R B &b
Tencent Holdings note d 0.0004 1124 4,840 16,240 24 8.36
R Wi wEd
HSBC note ¢ 0.0005 7,289 7,274 7995 539 41
EL Wi & c
Future Bright Mining Holdings Limited Production and sale of 0.79 1,006 14,567 7114 = 3.66
("Future Bright") marble and marble related
alEEEERERAA (D products
EENHEAERRAEAR

HHEER
AIA Group note e 0.001 2,459 4,983 5,999 87 3.09
RARR Wiske
Sa Sa International note f 0.05 1,252 4,842 4,816 = 248
55 B B 2 f
Jete Power note g 2.80 1,412 25,676 24,990 = 12.86

e Miztg
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19.  PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE 19 XEEHE2TEREZEN (H)
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Percentage

of investment

Net assets Dividend/  attributable to

Interest  attributable to Invested Carrying interest the Group's total

Name of equity/debt securities Nature of business held the Group amount amount received assets

BoER S/
£33 Fris e REFE REE M2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(%) TREL TREL TREL T

AFS financial assets

THAERE
Listed debt securities
thEBES
Industrial and Commercial Bank of Corporate and personal N/A N/A 6,764 6,600 303 340
China Limited ("ICBC") banking, treasury iR @R
REIFHRTERAA(IERT) operations, investment
banking, asset
management, trust,
financial leasing, insurance
and other financial services
AAIMBEART - BLEK
RERTT EEER -
it 2RHEE REBR
Hit & 5 IRH
Leading Affluence Limited Development, selling and N/A N/A 6,379 6,290 279 3.24
(“Leading Affluence”) management of properties iR TEA
ARBERRA (AR and holding of investment
properties
BE - HEREEMEUR
FEREME
Bank of East Asia Limited ("BEA") Provision of banking and N/A N/A 5,234 4993 285 2.57
RERTAERDA(RERT)) related financial services N @R

and business, corporate

and investor services
RERTRAEH B RE AR

HE CERREERS

100,645 106,565 1,517
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19.  PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Notes:

China Oriented was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is
principally engaged in the provision of driving training services
in the PRC.

For the nine months ended 30 September 2018, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of China
Oriented was approximately Renminbi (“RMB”) 15.4 million and
its audited consolidated equity attributable to the owners of

China Oriented was approximately RMB82.2 million.

Newtree was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
01323). Newtree and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
(i) wholesale and retails of household consumables; (ii) design
and development of three-dimensional animations, augmented
reality technology application and e-learning web application;
(iii) trading of coal products; (iv) provision of educational
technology solutions through online education programs and
provision of English language proficiency tests and (v) provision
of money lender business.

For the six months ended 30 September 2018, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of Newtree
was approximately HK$2.5 million and its unaudited
consolidated equity attributable to the owners of Newtree was

approximately HK$360.7 million.

HSBC was incorporated in England and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00005).
HSBC and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
provision of international banking and financial services.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of HSBC was
approximately US$13,727 million and its audited consolidated
equity attributable to the owners of HSBC was approximately
US$186,253 million.

19. AEERBEZIEREZEN (&

Bt 5 -

mMARRAEREEMKL  TERER
B g B B IR A AR -

BE-Z-\FAA=+HLLAEAR
mAEEARGEEERGERENORA
R #15,400,0007T ([ AR¥E ) - fm A 7
BEAREREREAEBNAARRE
82,200,0007T °

RN S8 SEMAL - BB 7B
RFTER LT (B A5 - 01323) « &I
REMBAREZREOHERTER
BHEFER: (N =#8E  EEERRM
ERREA RBRAERAREANRR
R (NEERKER: (VEBHE LR
EREBRMHERERMABAT EREH
RFBKFAARWVREBRER -

BE_Z-)\FAA=THILXEAR "
RNEBEARERREZFEEBROS
2,500,000 7T » &) #EH A 1R
EIZ4E A % 73360,700,00078 7T ©

EL N RBEEMAS - H RO PR
ER £ (B £ 5% - 00005) - E L K
HfB AR T 2N ERHBERTES
RS ©

HE-_T—\F+-A=t+—ALFE "
ELBEEARGBRERESRNNAE
13,727,000,000% 7T * E LHEH A FEAG
KB ZARE R #)/3186,253,000,0003%
T o
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19.  PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)
d.  Tencent Holdings

Tencent Holdings was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00700). Tencent Holdings and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of internet and
mobile value added services, online advertising services and
eCommerce transactions services to users in the PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of Tencent
Holdings was approximately RMB78,719 million and its audited
consolidated equity attributable to the owners of Tencent
Holdings was approximately RMB323,510 million.

e.  AlA Group

AlA Group was incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
01299). AIA Group and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the writing of life insurance business, providing life insurance,
annuities, accident and health insurance and saving plans
throughout Asia and distributing related investment and other
financial services to its customers.

For the thirteen months ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of AIA Group's
was approximately United States dollars (“US$”) 3,163.0 million
and its audited consolidated equity attributable to the owners
of AIA Group was approximately US$39,006.0 million.

19. 2EEHEZTEREZEN (R)

W i

(&)
B AE IR

BAERARAESESEMAT - EBKRH
B AT FTE AR £ (AR 7 5% © 00700) °
BB EEMNBAREENREERH
AERFRETHAKBEHEERSE  #
FEERBURETFEBRBSRA °

BHE-Z—N\E+-A=+—HIFE -
IR ER AELEEZEE R
A ARE78,719,000,0007T 1M BRI A%
BEABELEEZGERERNARARKE
323,510,000,0007T °

RBRR

RABRENFBEMAL - H B 7B
AT ER T (B 5% - 01299) © &K 3
Rig & HH B AR EEE T MIEEES
ABRBRER REAS  F2£  BH
SERBERREFEETIRAERS
DHARRE R AR R -

HE_ZTZ-N\F+A=+t—HIET+
Z=ERA AARBREERKREXZSES &
A #) %3,163,000,000% ([ 7Tl) -
MEBREEEEEREAREOR
39,006,000,000% 7T °
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19.  PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE 19. XEEREZTEREZEN (&

GROUP (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued) MiaE: ()

Sa Sa International was incorporated in Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00178). Sa Sa International and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the retailing and wholesaling of cosmetic
products.

For the six months ended 30 September 2018, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of Sa Sa
International was approximately HK$202.9 million and its
unaudited consolidated equity attributable to the owners of
Sa Sa International was approximately HK$2,654.8 million.

Jete Power was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 08133). Jete Power and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of cast metal
products.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of Jete Power
was approximately HK$9.7 million and its audited consolidated
equity attributable to the owners of Jete Power was
approximately HK$39.1 million.

Smart-Core was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 02166). Smart-Core and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the distribution of electronic products.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of Smart-
Core was approximately HK$80.4 million and its audited
consolidated equity attributable to the owners of Smart-Core
was approximately HK$568.3 million.

RERRZ PrER £ (AR 5% : 00178) °
SITEEREMBARIERETER
A m e

HE-Z—/\EAA=1tHL EA
TBHBEEBEABLHAKEEZEEG R
F 49 £202,900,0007% 7T+ i1 35 35 B B
BEAEBEAREEREERERNA
2,654,800,0003% 7T ©

BEEN G S B BAEMAR - BB B
32 Pt GEM £ i (B £ £ 55% < 08133) = 88
EREMNBARTENETHEREES

HE-ZT - N\F+-_A=1+—HILFE
BEEAARGREERSEABRAOAS
9,700,000/ 7T © MHEETEE A JEIHRE
% 47 & # 25 49 4339,100,00078 7T °

BERFASEBSEMA - B RO B
ZATER £ (B0 5% : 02166) = &
REMBRARETEREIHETEM °

HE-Z—\F+-A=1+—HILFE
CERFEABRLEEERESRINANE
80,400,000 7T - i/t & #E B A &8 £
FEIZAR A R m /9 5568,300,0007% 7T ©
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

Sands China

Sands China was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 01928). Sands China and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the operation of casino games of chance
or games of other forms and the development and operation
of integrated resorts and other ancillary services in Macao.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of Sands
China was approximately HK$1,875.0 million and its audited
consolidated equity attributable to the owners of Sands China
was approximately HK$4,409.0 million.

J- King Power

King Power is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Travel Service
(Holdings) Hong Kong Limited and its controlling shareholder
is China Travel International Investment Hong Kong Limited
(“China Travel International”), which was incorporated in British
Virgin Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
Stock Exchange (stock code: 00308). China Travel International
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) tourist
attraction and related operations, (ii) travel agency, travel
document and related operations, (iii) hotel operations and (iv)
passenger transportation operations. The listed debt security
carries an interest rate of 5.625% per annum.

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

19. ZEEBEZIEREZEN (M)
Bt & - (4D
&Y HE

S HPERHASHSEMAL - RN
REE R PrEMR £ (B0 5% - 01928) »
eAHEREMBAREERNRMAMEE
REHS BRAXEBEANEYRE
RRBEEEEBRNREMMEERT

BE_T-/\F+-_A=+—HIF
B @PPRBEAAREREREA
& Al 49 #431,875,000,000% 7T+ i1 & 2
TEEBEABMEEREAERNR
4,409,000,000/% T °

J- King Power

King Power& & & ik (52 &) B R A A
ZEEWBARIRHEZERREREE
FIRBERREBR AR (HRREER])
ERGOREERFTER LT (&G R :
00308) ° HIREIFR KR AMtE AR EE K
B()IREREREBER - ()RTAL
MRAT 28 1 R AE R - (i) B R S R
(WEEXT - FTHEBKEFRENE
5.625%FT 8

20. HEWHIE - AARERRS

Dividend receivables FE U A% B
Other receivables H b & YR IE
Prepayments T B
Other deposits E ik &

2018 2017
—E—_N\E —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
112 —

412 889

2,350 1,593

359 244

3,233 2,726

At 31 December 2018, none (2017: none) of the above other
receivables, prepayments and deposits is either past due or
impaired.

RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—HB  LiltHM
FEW SRR - AN A RIZ S E A BT
BE( Tt F -HEB)RE-
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21.

22.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances of the Group comprised bank
balances, cash and short-term bank deposit with an original
maturity of three months of less held by the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following

currencies:

HK$ B IT
RMB AR
Us$ ED
Other Hifb

Re RRITHER

Cash and bank balances

21.

RERBITEE

AEEZRS RRITESBERITHER
ReRAKEMERIMAR=MAAR
AT ZEERTER -

RekBAeFEYPUTINEEFTE:

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
17,739 21,598

144 121

12,885 822

173 —

30,941 22,541

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates and the short-term deposit with interest
at fixed rate of 3%. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the
foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by the PRC
government. All of the Group’s cash and bank balances and
all of the Company’s cash and bank balances denominated
in RMB are located in Hong Kong which is not subject to the
foreign exchange control.

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE
As at 31
amounting to HK$2,500,000 was unsecured, interest bearing

December 2017, loan and interest receivable

at 36% per annum and repayable in February 2018. The loan
receivable had been fully repaid in accordance with the agreed
repayment schedule.

22.

RITBSREARTHERNENZE T
RE B R EREFIZEE N K3I%E
BRARTEKENEERFAEINE
REDEEZIRIT °

ARBYFFETHEAAMELBcEEM
EHPEZESXTERTETHINE
EHRE - AARBFEZAEEFRA
R RBRTEBRRARAMAR S RIE
TRBBUNREE  ETXIMNEE S AT
MR -

B — B E AR A
R—_TB—tF+_A=+—H EBRER
K M) B 3% 2,500,000 7T 0 A EER IR
FRERI%TEXL AR T \F_AE
B-RUERCREBEERTHRE
BEE -

139



140

CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRMEE

For the year e

23. SHAR

nded 31 December 2018 HZE=-Z— /\F+_-_A=1+—HILtFE

E CAPITAL

The movements of share capital of the Company are as

follow

S.

23. BX&
KRR ZBABHMT -

Number of Nominal value of

ordinary shares  ordinary shares
TR E TE AR mEE

‘000 HK$'000
& Tt

Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2017, R=ZF—+t&—-H—H8"
31 December 2017 and —E—tLFER-ZE-N\F
2018, at HK$0.10 each +=—H=+—H
B KRMEE0.10E T
Issued and fully paid: ERTRBE:
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—H—H
Placing of new shares fic &5 5 AR 19
At 31 December 2017 R-F—tHF+t=-A=1+—8
Placing of new shares fic &5 5 AR 19

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—NE+=ZHA=+—H

2,000,000 200,000

454,962 45,496

(a) 90,990 9,099
545,952 54,595

(b) 109,170 10,917
655,122 65,512

Notes:

In January 2017, the Company issued a total of 90,990,000
ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.10 each at a price
of HK$0.26 each. Further details were mainly set out in the
announcement dated 27 January 2017.

In April 2018, the Company issued a total of 109,170,000
ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.10 each at a price of
HK$0.135 each. Further details were mainly set out in the
announcement dated 20 April 2018.

M

@ R-Z—tF—A AAAZEEK0.26
BT 2 B 1% B 1T 5 $£90,990,000% & &
EECI0B T2 BB - E—FHIBE
EHENEHA T —tF-H_++tH
/N i

b) RZZE—N\FWEA  ARRIZEFMRR0.135
7B T 2 (B3 1T A ££109,170,0000% & ik
AECIOE T2 ERAR - EEZFHBEE
HFRBBHA-T—\FNA=-FTHZA
115 °
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24. SECURED BANK LOAN 24, BEFRITEN
2018 2017
—2-N\F —F—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
The bank loan is repayable as follows: RITERZERHPOT
Within one year —FR 482 472

Carrying amounts of bank loan that are  § 78 1 ) & H R #£ 5F —
not repayable within one year from the FREZE  BEES5 AR
sem st

end of the reporting period but contain ERBRIERZRITE
a repayment on demand clause (shown ) AR E A G AR B

under current liabilities) B1E) 2,656 3,138
3,138 3,610
Less: Amount due within one year W — A 2 5RIE
(shown under current liabilities) FIAREERE) (3,138) (3,610)
The 10-Year instalment loan is repayable on demand and has TEHOHEREAREREELIARSE
been secured by a mortgage over the Group's office premises, ERAEME s REEER  BFRE
bearing interest at 2.5% below prime rate per annum. BEMERFH25EFE o
25. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE LEASE 25. MEHERE
2018 2017
—E-—N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT T T
Analysed for reporting purposes as: SR
Current liabilities mEAE — 2,600
The Group's yacht has been under a finance lease of a three- AEENERITIE="FHOREHLE -
year term. The related interest rate is 1.75% below Hong Kong MR R T EEENERI1.75E 2
best lending rate per annum. The Group also has an option FRNXR - AEENAEERERERE
to purchase the yacht for a nominal amount at the end of the N—H2BEBAZER -

lease term.
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25. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE LEASE (CONTINUED) 25. MmEHERE(H)

Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments

REAEMNR

lease payments

REHENRZRE

142

Obligation under a finance lease

BB S AEB LA

2018

—E-N\E
HK$'000
FHT

2017
—F—+tF
HK$'000
FET

2018
—B-N\E
HK$'000
THET

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
FET

payable: THR AT :
Within one year —FR — 2,637 — 2,600
Within a period of more than iR —FETEBM
one year but not more than FZHERA
two years — — — —
— 2,637 — 2,600
Less: future finance charges R R B S — (37)
Present value of lease obligation & &IERE — 2,600
Less: Amount due for settlement  J& : 7A +=1{E& A A &
within 12 months (shown Wz e
under current liabilities) 2 (5 A 8
8&) — (2,600)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

R+T—EAREHX
(R3]
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EMEE

Financial assets at FVTPL (note 18)

& & (i 5£18)

Debt instruments at FVTOCI
(note 16)

26.

¢®MIA

(a)

BAREFARGE SR

BAREFAREMBEEE
mZ BB ITA(ME16)

AFS financial assets (note 16) Attt EesmEE
(Bt 5216)

Financial assets at amortised cost/ IZ#HK AT E 2 27
loans and receivables (including BE /BN FEWZIE
cash and bank balances) (BERe MBITER)
— Amount due from an associate — JE— B = Q]

(note 22) A (M 3£ 22)
— Other receivables and deposits ~ — E At R I IE &

(note 20) ® & (M 7520)
— Cash and bank balances — Re RIEITEH

(note 21) (Bt &£21)

Financial liability cHAas

Amortised cost 55 R AN
— Secured bank loan (note 24) — EERFIETERK

(B 5224)

2017
—E—+tF
HK$'000
FHET

2018
—2-N\%F

HK$'000
FER

94,866 112,366
11,066 —
— 37,756

— 2,500

883 1,133
30,941 22,541
137,756 176,296
3,138 3,610

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include debt
instruments at FVTOCI (2017: AFS financial assets),
financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial assets, other
receivables, other deposits, amount due from an
associate, cash and bank balances and secured bank
loan. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

BERBREEEER KK

AEEZIESRTABRRAR
Bt AR bEEEEZERTA(Z
Z—tF AHLESREE ) &
AREFABERZEREE  AIH
hESHMEE  HMEERRE X
iR e - U — & QR FOR
BeRRITERARBEARTE
R EMTAZFBRD 2K &E
PRE - MEERMTAZHERER
BREmERAR (8RR - FXE R
LRERER) EERRRREHE
TRk - BEZFRARMNABBR
RTIXEY - AEEEEREERE R
ERNFRAR  BARERA R
BUBEE 185 ©
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Market risk
Currency risk

This refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. As at the year-
end date, the Group was mainly exposed to foreign
currency risk from its bank balances, which were mainly
denominated in RMB and US$ and listed debt securities
denominated in US$.

Although the Group currently does not have any foreign
currency hedging policy, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise. As at 31 December 2018, RMB bank balances
and US$ bank balances amounted to approximately
HK$144,000 (2017: HK$121,000) and approximately
HK$12,885,000 (2017: HK$822,000) respectively. As at
31 December 2018, US$ debt securities investment
balances amounted to approximately HK$11,066,000
(2017: HK$37,756,000)

No sensitivity analysis is made as the foreign exchange
exposure is considered to be minimal. As HK$ is pegged
to US$, the management thus considers the Group's
foreign currency exposure is not significant. For the other
currencies, the exposure is also insignificant because the
related amount involved is immaterial.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash-flow interest rate risk
in relation to the variable-rate bank loan and finance
lease. It is the Group's policy to maintain its borrowings
at floating rate of interests to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The Group's interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates in
relation to its HK$ denominated borrowings.

26.

¢MIA(H)

™ % & B
B m

E¥EREeRITAZARBERR
KEECRESHEXZBHMKI 2
Bk RNFEER AKEXTEERY
FERARBREXTAHEZRITE
BRARARTAEZ EMERKES
FRELZINERR

B 5N & B B A A o] S0 S 4
Bx - EEEEEINERL WK
DR E R FERINERR o
R-ZZE—NE+=-A=+—8" A
RESFITEBRETRITERD
B 4] 144,000 T (ZF — £ F -
121,0007% 7T) K& #912,885,0007% 7T
T — + 4 :822,000/87C) ° R
E-N\F+=-A=+—H Ex&E
TR B SR E B A 4911,066,00078
T (=T —+ 4 : 37,756,000/8 7T) °

F P SN B R B AR A B R - B
FHSERESN - ARNETERET
#Hey - AithEEER R ASBEHIN
ERERRIYTEN - EREMER
HRAP R ZEBERLIEEE
AEBEEERRTITEE -

EY

REERZERITERLRRENLE
ﬁi‘ﬁﬁﬁmuiﬂ?ﬂ $§,€Z
HERBRIEBEENRERER
/Mﬁﬂ“f’ﬂl?‘* RNEB 2 M EE b

TEETREUB LA EZEE
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group's fair value interest rate risk of financial assets
relates primarily to the investment in fixed coupon debt
securities, which are classified as debt instruments at
FVTOCI (2017: AFS financial assets). The change in fair
value arising from the changes in market interest rates
will typically affect the related reserve account.

Total interest revenue and income from financial assets
that are measured at FVTOC|I and amortised cost
amounted to HK$1,391,000 (2017: HK$1,940,000) and
HK$12,000 (2017: HK$3,000) respectively for the year
ended 31 December 2018. Total interest expense on
financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL amounted
to HK$122,000 (2017: HK$252,000) for the year ended
31 December 2018.

No sensitivity analysis is made as the interest rate
exposure is considered to be minimal.

26.

SRIE(E)
™ 5 E ke (4])
FI =B B (48)

AEEzEREEALENEAR
TEERSERBRAREFTAEM
FHUECBEBIA(CE L5
AL ESREE) 2 EBBKES
RE -MBNEEHRELEZAR
BEEHKETEZENBHEERE -

HE—_Z—N\FE+-A=t+—HBIL%F
E - ZAnEFAEMEEKZE R
BEHEKATEZERMEEMSF
Bz R A S 25 521,391,000
B (ZZF — £ F 11,940,000 7T)
12,0005 7T (ZF —+ 4 : 3,000
L) BE_ZE—N\F+_A=+—
AIEFE - WIEEQAARETFAEBLRE
ZemBER BT A5EE122,000
Bt (=ZZ — £ 4F 1 252,0007T) °

R ERERESESE N - R E
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)
Price risk

The Company is primarily exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in financial assets at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI (2017: financial assets
at FVTPL and AFS financial assets). The exposure is
managed by maintaining a portfolio of investment with
different risks.

Concentration of price risk may arise if the Group has a
significant investment in a single equity security or debt
security. At the end of reporting period, the Group has
certain concentration risks in four (2017: three) equity
investments which account for more than 5% of the
total assets of the Group. No single debt instrument in
Company's listed debt portfolio account for more than
5% of the total assets of the Group. Details are disclosed
in note 19.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2018, if the prices of the respective
listed equity securities and perpetual capital securities,
had been increased/decreased by 10%, the Group's
loss for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have
decreased/increased by approximately HK$7,707,000
(2017: approximately HK$11,237,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of listed equity securities and
perpetual capital securities. The OCI| for the year
would have decreased/increased by approximately
HK$1,107,000 (2017: HK$3,776,000) for the Group as
a result of the change in fair value of listed debt
instruments. Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity
investment and derivatives with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 3 were disclosed in note 26(c)(i).

26.

¢MIA(HE)

™ % E kB (&)
18 14 /2] B

ARAEEMHYAKRER A AER
AB@RZEBMEERERAREFTA
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 26, £RWIA(E)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MBEEBREEEERBE(H)

(continued)
Market risk (continued) ™ 5 E ke (4])
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRE D (&
In order to minimise price risk, management has REEERRBEERE  BEEED
established an investment committee to consider BRIREZEEUERRKRELRE
investment proposals received from investment manager R/HIARRFREBREEEIRE
and/or the Company’s investment officers. e
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= & & B B R B AT 14
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFINAEELEREEEET
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL THERMEENEERR:
assessment:

External 12m or Gross
credit rating lifetime ECL  carrying amount
128 A=
5B 2HEMY

EEIR EEEA RE A
HK$'000
FHT

Debt instruments at FVTOCI
BAREBEFAHMZEKENE

#IH
Listed debt securities (Note i) 16 B2-Baal 12m ECL 11,066
EmERES (D) 121 A 78 B
EEEE
Financial assets at amortised
costs
REBERATECSCREE
Other receivables (Note ii) 20 B2-Aa2 12m ECL 524
H U R T8 (Bt aEii) 1216 A 78 &7
EEEB#E
Other deposits (Note iii) 20 N/A 12m ECL 359
H 17 5% (Bt = iii) 38 A 1218 A 78 &7
EEEE
Bank balances (Note iv) 21 Baal-Aa2 12m ECL 30,927
R 17 45 4 (BT &£ iv) 1216 A 78 &7

EEEE
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes:
(i) Debt instruments at FVTOCI

The credit risk of debts instruments are managed
through an internal process. The credit quality of each
issuer is investigated before an investment is made. The
Group reviews and monitors the credit concentration
of investments on a regular basis. The Group's debt
instruments at FVTOCI comprise listed debt securities
that are with credit ratings from B2 to Baal as per
globally understood definitions.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
performed impairment assessment on debt instruments
at FVTOCI at 12m ECL by reference to information
published by external credit rating agencies relating to
average loss rates of respective credit rate grades, and
concluded that the risks of default of the counterparties
are low and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses
is provided.

(ii) Other receivables
The credit risks on other receivables (including dividend
receivables and other receivables from securities
brokers and listed corporations) are limited because
the counterparties are financial institutions or listed
corporations with high credit ratings ranging from B2 to
Aa2 assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(i)  Other deposits
The credit risks on other deposits (including refundable
rental, utility and other deposits) are low because the
counterparties have a low risk of default and do not have
any past-due amounts.

(iv) Bank balances
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing
deposits with several banks with high credit ratings. The
credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks or financial institutions with
high credit ratings ranging from Baal to Aa2 assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances
at 12m ECL by reference to information published by
external credit rating agencies relating to average loss
rates of respective credit rate grades, and concluded that
the risks of default of the counterparty banks are low and
accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks and
debt investments, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERIE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=—Z—N\F+-A=+—HIEFE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associate
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivery of
cash or other financial assets. The Board has established
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework to
meet the Group's funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by
holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to
ensure that there are sufficient cash flows to meet all
financial commitments and to capitalise on opportunities
for business expansion. By monitoring scheduled debt-
servicing payments for the above financial liabilities as
well as cash outflows due in day-to-day basis, the Group
carefully manages its liquidity requirements.

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
ik £

i ViES

%

—E2-N\¥+=-A=1+-AH
SHAE
Secured bank loan, repayable on EHEMBTER  AEEX
demand EE 25

31 December 2018
Financial liability

26.

Within 1 year
or on demand

—FRg
EZR
HK$'000
TET

3,138

HE KA AL REE m | =

¢MIA(H)

(b)

More than

1 year but less 2 years but less
than 2 years
HB-F
BIRME
HK$'000

BERBEEEERBX (&

RBESRAR

mEE R 2 B AN & B A LA
RNReREMEREELZ TG
FENESREERBEEEMES
REEZRR ERGEHTAER
BESTAREEER  UNEAE
BESMRBESERERTE A%
BREAMIREELCEZRDE
E - UERERDHESAR  LEM
BRPBHAFEAR BEXBHIRERD
BHNES BEERLESREE
ZAtEIEENRAREGEERE
RIAPRSREZBER  ~AEREE
EEBEARBESRTK -

More than Total
discounted Carrying
cash flows amount
EHRRS
BOREF REAR

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT BT

than 5 years
HBMF
fREE
HK$'000

TEL TEL

- - 3,138 3,138

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

¥
BRA=

%

31 December 2017
Financial liabilities

—E-t¥ft-A=t-AH
SHEE
Secured bank loan, repayable on EERRTER  AEEX
demand HE 25
RERERE 35

Obligation under a finance lease

Within 1 year
or on demand

-ERE
HK$'000
THET

More than

1 year but less 2 years but less
[UENWATES
BR-F
BOIRME
HK$'000

More than Total
discounted Carrying
cash flows amount
ERRES
REEE
HK$'000

THET

than 5 years
EBME
BOREE
HK$'000
FHET

REE
HK$'000
TER

TBL

3,610 — — 3,610 3,610
2,631 — — 2,631 2,600
6,241 — — 6,241 6,210
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 26 W IE(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HERREEEERKEXE (HE)

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank loan with a repayment on demand clause is
included in the “within 1 year or on demand” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December
2018, the aggregate carrying amount of the bank
loan amounted to HK$3,138,000 (2017: HK$3,610,000).
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the
management do not believe that it is probable that the
bank will exercise its discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The management believe that
such bank loan will be repaid over six years (2017
seven years) after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreement, details of which are set out in the
table below:

REE S E R (&)

BEREREERERRZRITERE
ERBEOMAA-FALEER
KIZERBEAR R _F—N\F+
“A=t—H ROTERZAEFHE
E{E /43,138,000 T (ZE—+ %
3,610,000 7T) ° st RAKE 7 B 15
A& - BIRERRRIT AR RE
TEERBEZRAFER - BH
ERABUBTERHBAHRBRRE
A E B ERAH  RN&R
FHEORNF(CE—LF LHF)R
R FRIANTK:

Maturity Analysis — Bank loan with a repayment on demand
clause based on scheduled repayments

HYAN — BERERRBRRZBTERBEBRGH AR

Weighted More than ERGEN
average Within 1 year but 2 years but Total
effective 1 year or less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
¥y —FRH BB-F BBmF EY 3]
BRA=® EER BORBE BIREE BEEF RERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TERT TRT TERT TERT TRT TERT
31 December 2018 —Z—-N\F+=-A=+-H 25 559 559 1,677 604 3,399 3138
31 December 2017 —F—+tF+=-fA=1+-H 2.5 557 557 1,669 1,160 3,943 3,610
The amounts included above for variable interest rate BEFPNE BB RERRAE
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are EZEFMEEEZR  EXRAIIZ
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates FNETRABZFRITESER
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at e & o

the end of the reporting period.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 26, £RWIA(E)
(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ) EMIBEZAAREFE

This note provides information about how the Group A FIRHEBEAEEETSES

determines fair values of various financial assets. BEEAABEAXNNER -

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market- fhEt R AR ER - AN E L A AT ER

observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level B T35 B R A5 BUR o X E R

1 inputs are not available, the Group engages Valuers to F-RBARE AEEEZREMG

perform the valuation. The management works closely ERETHE ERERMEEME

with the Valuers to establish the appropriate valuation PE1E  NEEHELSENKE

techniques and inputs to the model. The management BRORBASE EEEGYER

reports the findings to the Board every half-year to EZeEREm BEAAEED

explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value. IR H o

(i)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets that (i) MUEREEERAAEE
are measured at fair value on a recurring ZEEEERMEEZAR
basis =
The following table gives information about TREIHEFETREEZR
how the fair values of these financial assets are REEE L ENER =
determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) BT 58 FB 2 {4 (B £ i K2 86 A 2K
and inputs used). %) e

Fair value as at  Fair value as at
31 December 31 December Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 2017 hierarchy  and key inputs
T-1f

+=—A=+—A8
ZARE HEEMREERAHE

HK$'000

FTHAT

Financial assets at FVTPL

BRAREGABEZEREE

Listed equity securities investment 72,623 112,077 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
in Hong Kong F—R RNEBTHIBE

ERLTRABSFRE
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 26.

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

Fair value as at Fair value as at

31 December 31 December

Financial assets 2017

RZE—tF
SREE PA/NL
HK$'000
FTET

Financial assets at FVTPL
(continued)

ROABHABRBEZEREE
(%)

Listed equity securities investment 261 289
in Australia

M E T A R 5 R A

Unlisted equity investment 15,700 —

FEMBRARE

Derivatives of an unlisted equity 2,100 —

investment

FEMBRAREBITETA

eMIA )
(0 SMIAZARENER)

(i) UEREEERANAEBE
ZEAEBEERMEEZAR
B (&)

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)

hierarchy

and key inputs

EERMREZBAZE

Level 3
E=H
(note 1)
(B &E1)

Market-based approach Key inputs:
Price-to-earnings multiples of
other similar companies with a
marketability discount rate
MZEEBRARIE:
Htt BURR ZTRAREHK
T35 47 % &

Level 3
F=H

Market-based approach Key inputs:
Price-to-earnings multiples of 11.20
by referring to other similar
companies with a marketability
discount rate of 70% (note 2)
mSATREARE:
S2ZHMBUAR 2T AE1.201F
R0 5 B 1 4T ET70%
(Ff&E2)

Level 3
F=H

Market-based approach Key inputs:
Value of the unlisted equity
investment as above, probability
on the occurrence of certain
events (note 3)
MZEEBRARIE:
EXEETRAREH
BE BTEH2BERE
(B E3)
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 26.
(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c)

(continued)

¢MIA(H)

SRMIAZAAENE (&)

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) URERERAAEFE
are measured at fair value on a recurring ZEEEERMEEZAR
basis (continued) B (&)

Fair value as at Fair value as at

31 December Fair value
2017

T t5
==k
ZAnE
HK$'000
TET

31 December
2018

Valuation technique(s)

Financial assets hierarchy

and key inputs

LREE ZDRE
HK$'000

T#T

EERMREZBAZE

Listed perpetual securities 4,182 = Level T Quoted bid prices in an active market
investment in Hong Kong and E—R REBMHIME
Singapore
EERI MK ETAARFRE
AFS financial assets
AfHESHEE
Listed debt securities investment — 37,756 Level T Quoted bid prices in an active market
in Hong Kong and Singapore E—R REBMHIME
EERMMRETEBESFRE
Debt instruments at FVTOCI
BRAREFAHEMEZEKRE Z
BEHIA
Listed debt securities investment 11,066 — Level T Quoted bid prices in an active market
in Hong Kong and Singapore E—R REBMHIME
EERMMRETEBESFRE
Note 1: The listed equity securities investment in Australia MaET:  PORIMNE) Em AR E H
is not actively traded and its quoted bid price is RERKER B W &
not available. The management assessed the fair MmHHE - EREEA
value using market-based approach. MGENERRE -
Note 2: An increase in the price-to-earnings multiples MizE2: EEIE P& A A T A K 0

used in isolation would result in an increase
in the fair value measurement of the unlisted
equity investment and vice versa. A 5%
increase/decrease in the price-to-earnings
multiples, holding all other variables constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount
of the shares by HK$800,000 or HK$700,000
(2017: Nil).

8B EMRARE
MARES RN R
ZINR e MAEE N
M5%  REMEMEE
BEHETE  ROEHEE
#3810, 5 4800,00078
7T %700,000% JTL(= &
—EF:fE)e
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

Note 2:

Note 3:

(continued)

An increase in the marketability discount used
in isolation would result in a decrease in the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investment, and vice versa. A 5% increase/
decrease in the marketability discount holding
all other variables constant would decrease/
increase the carrying amount of the shares by
HK$2,700,000 or HK$2,600,000 respectively
(2017: nil).

An increase in the value of the unlisted equity
investment used in isolation would result in a
decrease in the fair value measurement of the
derivatives of an unlisted equity investment
and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in the
value of the unlisted equity investment, holding
all after variables constant, would decrease/
increase the carrying value of the derivatives
by HK$400,000 (2017: nil).

An increase in the probability on the
occurrence of certain events used in isolation
would result in an increase in fair value
measurement of the derivatives of an unlisted
A 5%

increase/decrease in the probability on the

equity investment, and vice versa.
occurrence of certain events holding all other
variables constant would increase/decrease
the carrying amount of the derivatives by

HK$200,000 (2017: nil).

There were no transfers between Levels 1 to 3 in
the current year and prior year.

26.

¢MIA(HE)

(i) UREEERAALEE
ZEAEEEREEZAR

B (&)

B sE2:

P FE3

(%

BEEBNT ST E
KM EHIFELT
R A&/ & H R EE
EBRD RZIFA ™
% 9 i RO
5% + 1 P A H it & &
BRIE BEHRK
3 BRE & 5 BlR2
¥ /12,700,000 JT 3k
2,600,000/ T (=& —
tFE) -

5508 0 A A 3F L AR
REMEEE ISR
FLETRAKRENET
B A REFERD
RZIFA - FELmIRA
REWEEEM, R D
5% -+ T T A i & &
BRTE - SEHITE
TAREER DN
400,000 T (ZE —+
F ) o

BEEEANE TEEN
% 4 O] B 14 1 N s B R
FELEMBARZESTET
BEMARBEFTEEM
R ZINR « BF B
A TR N R
5% @ 1 BT A E fib & £
BIFTE  BEROTE
TER®EmEZM R
200,000 (=2 —+
FIE)o

RAFER LFE - WEE—
MEFE=—RENER -
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 26.
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(c)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

¢MIA(H)

(c)

SRMIAZAREE (H)

RZE—NEFER_ZE—+tF+=A8
=+—BZAREER:

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

AFS financial assets

Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R EF-R/ E=4& 4ot
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FiE T FE T FHET FHExT

ERMEE

BARBEFABZEZ

EMEE 76,805 — 18,061 94,866

BARBEAHME

HEmcBBELA 11,066 — — 11,066

4 Et 87,871 — 18,061 105,932
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— =/ F= 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F& 7T FBT FABT FB T

SREE

BARBEFAREZ

TREE 112,077 — 289 112,366

AHEEESmEE 37,756 — — 37,756

4t 149,833 — 289 150,122

w

;]
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 26 W IE(E)
(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ) ¢MIEZAAEE(E)

(continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of CRMEEF=—RIBANBIFEZYH
financial assets: B :

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BRQAREBEFA

BERveMEE

HK$'000

THET

As at 1 January 2018 R_ZE—-N\F—H—H 289
Purchase BE 16,000
Fair value change NI = 1,800
Exchange loss PE 5 Uz (28)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+=-_A=+—H 18,061

Financial assets

at FVTPL
BRAREFA
BRsemEE
HK$'000
FA T
As at 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—H—H 264
Exchange gain BE 5 W 25 25
As at 31 December 2017 R-_F—tF+-_A=+—H 289
(i) Fair value of the Group's financial assets and (i) WHEUARKEEEZRQIAAE
financial liabilities that are not measured at TEZEAEEESREER
fair value on a recurring basis TRMAEBEZANE
The directors of the Company consider that the RRBEZRR/NEEUB®
carrying amounts of other financial assets and RIBEBHK AN EM S
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in BMEELTREBENEREE
the consolidated financial statements approximate HEANABEESE - ZFemE
their fair values. The fair values of these financial ERBENAALABEINIREA
assets and liabilities have been determined in REBREAIZRBAUBF RSN
accordance with generally accepted pricing models EDMERE -

based on discounted cash flow analysis.
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27. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 27. MEEBZEEHIER

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or the future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group's consolidated statements of cash

TRFANAKEREZD CREZ Y
B BERASIFREED BELD
EEZAENEERSREXARRAS
MERAEEGARERERTOER
MERBREREZEE-

flows from financing activities.

Obligation

under a Total from

financing

Secured finance
activities
Rl & EE
E4xz
BEHASE
HK$'000

TETT

bank loan lease

R
RITER
HK$'000
TR

mE
HEAE
HK$'000
TAETT

At 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—H—H 4,070 5,961 10,031
Financing cash flows MEHSRE (557) (3,516) (4,073)
Interest expense MERE 97 155 252
At 31 December 2017 R-B—+F+-_H=1+—8 3,610 2,600 6,210
Financing cash flows MEBER=E (557) (2,637) (3,194)
Interest expense FERX 85 37 122
At 31 December 2018 R=ZB-N\F+=HA=+—H 3,138 — 3,138
28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EXEBER

Regarding capital risk management, the Group’s objectives
are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debit.

AEBZEARBRERERERERE
REREN AAHBALHRER A
B REERNEBAREESKA - B
ERBREBEFREERF I -

RERNARBELASERE AEEES
HERNTRERZKEZE  MRRE
BZET BUOFBROIHEEE " A
BB
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28.

29

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as debt divided by total equity. Debt is calculated
as "borrowing” (representing current borrowing as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position). Total capital
is calculated as “total equity”, as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The gearing ratios as at
31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Borrowing faE
Total equity = H R

EXRBFELE

Gearing ratio

28.

EXEBREE(E)
HITEREMBAR - AEEREEAL
AELERERER o I RIFBEERIA
ERBETE BEREMEREIFE (ELR
EHMBEHRABRRATREEE) - BEARE
IR A MBS RR SRR AT R[S E%E]
AFE o RZE-NEFRZZE—tF+=A
=t+t—HZEBEABRBELENT:

2018
—E-N\E

2017
—E—+tF
HK$'000
FE T

HK$’000
TERT

3,138 6,210
142,041 182,075
0.02 0.03

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

At 1 January 2017
Charge (credit) for the year

R-ZE—tF—H—H
FARZ (K E)

Unused tax

HK$'000

29. EEFREH

TRFINRAFE R BEFEFFERN
TEEEHBARREEREE

Accelerated
tax
Total

losses  depreciation

ABRAFHE

B8

MERERE
HK$'000
TAETT

Mt
HK$'000

TR THETT

At 31 December 2017
Charge (credit) for the year

R-FB—tF+-_H=1+—8
FAMX(ER)

(841) 841 —
675 (675) —
(166) 166 —
166 (166) —

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—-N\F+=-A=+—H
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29

30.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$369,814,000 (2017: HK$317,949,000) available
for offset against future profits. As at 31 December, 2018, no
deferred tax asset has been recognized. As at 31 December,
2017, a deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect
of HK$1,005,000 of such losses which was offset against the
deferred tax liabilities on accelerated tax depreciation. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
HK$369,814,000 (2017: remaining HK$316,944,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The estimated tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$1,603,000 (2017: nil). No deferred
tax asset was recognised as it was not probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$36,000 (2017: HK$30,000).

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiary is required
to contribute certain payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
specified contributions.

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss of HK$278,000 (2017: HK$290,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current accounting year.

29.

30.

EEFREH(E)

RBEBR NEEBH R HMHIE
&5 18369,814,000%8 (= & — £ F:
317,949,000/ 7t) AT A iR #K 85 oK 2R i 1) ©
R=ZFE—N\F+=-—A=+—H BEER
BEEHBEE R-_Z—tF+=-A=
+—H » 2 51,005,000 7T B &5 18 7 2
IR FE TR TH & E B AT AR K G N R A IE AT
EZREEMRBEAR - AREETRBI KRR
A HOR - F L I TR 369,814,000 7T
(ZZ—tF : H££2316,944,0007 1) K IE
EHREEE - Gt EBBIERHAL
2

RIFEBHR AEEEAHNHERER
1,603,0008 T (ZF —+4F : £) - $ERE
RELEHEBEEE  AATAEAERED
R A AERAATNRERE=2ER
8 o

RIKBEHNEME
AEEBEMBECERBBREE L E T
HREEHE -FEEERAEEEE
PHBAE BEEIANEESHEAEE -
RNEE A B EH B KA M T 8 E 5% 5
K EENEZEREAELRERR B
e AW A LR A36,0008T(ZZT—+
£ 1 30,0007 7)) °

AEETENBLAANEERATEBMA
EENBREERKBNE - HEL
AIARERKEANGEHNETTEXAE
URBBEEMNREHRES - AKEBENK
wBAG B -BEEEREEHRN -

B4R A B &K 2 8K A278,000/8 T
—F—+ 4 290,000 JT) 8 7N &= E H
AedFERZETEENZMHR -
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31. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. EABEALRS
The following significant transactions were carried out with REESEATETUTEARS

related parties:

2018 2017
—®-N\%F e

HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TAETT

Investment management fee paid and B EEMRAKE

payable to Silverstone Investments ERAFMNEEERE

Limited (note 1) (B 5E1) 600 600
Food and beverage expenses paid to ENEFEEERARN

Excel Summit Holdings Limited (note 2) B (M 5E2) 171 269

Commission expenses paid to Topper BT sEEZ F AR AR
Dragon Securities Limited (note 3) ez (M 5E3) 168 —

Interest income received and receivable B 4 sk & YL 7N £ E B 22 N A)

from Superb Kingdom Limited, an HBEERIANNIEMHA
associate of the Group 73 364

Notes: B 5

1. Pursuant to Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules, any investment 1. B EHEBIE14A.081F - EAEEE
manager, investment adviser or custodian (or any connected 18~ 1% & B 3 AR B 7 (S AL E ] B &
person thereof) is regarded as a connected person. Such AL) OHEBEAEAL - RESFE
person is also regarded as key management personnel in SETERIFE245  ZBATTHHEEBE
accordance with HKAS 24. EERAE -

2. Mr. Wong Ying Pang, Simy, son-in-law of Dr. Lam Man Chan, the 2. BARBELEEARRAREIFERIENTES
Chairman and Non-executive Director of the Company, is the MXBELTHRE)REAEEERA
controlling shareholder and director of Excel Summit Holdings AMERIRRERES -

Limited.

3. Ms. Lam Mee Yee, daughter of Dr. Lam Man Chan, the chairman 3. MEBRBLLE (KRR EZFERIENTES

and Non-executive Director of the Company, is the controlling MXBELTHRR)REEZSFAERAD

shareholder of Topper Dragon Securities Limited. AR AR R o
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32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 31 July 2012 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors of the
Company and eligible participants (as defined in the Scheme),
and will expire on 30 July 2022. Under the Scheme, the Board
may grant options to directors of the Company (including
Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors) and its eligible participants to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or Independent
Non-executive Directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company's
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must
be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on or before the relevant
acceptance date, upon payment of HK$1.00 for the options
granted. Options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant of the share option to a period to be notified by
the Board to each grantee at the time of making such offer,
which shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of
grant. The exercise price is determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion and will not be less than the higher of (a)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant; (b) the average closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a
share of the Company on the date of grant.

On 28 August 2015, the Company granted share options
under the Scheme to certain directors and employees of
the Company, which entitle them to subscribe for a total
of 8,060,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.431 per share, upon
payment of HK$1 per grant.

32.

BT

RAE R EIRER 8 ([ZETE ) TR B R
TE——HFL A=+ HBBZRFER
MEP  FEENABEARREERES
BR28E(ERLZaTE) &ralB
RZZBE-——F+A=1+HEm - BEZ:
2 -EFEARAARAES(BIEERT
EERBUFATERIRELERZHE
ERHARBAQRRG Z B RAE -

EREARRR R REFRAER - RIBZF
SRR R Z BT S N IR B - D
"HEBARREARHEDETRNDI0% -
EREARRARBRREFLHIER - REM
FZ A E AT E B A LA RE R BB A i S
KR 2ZBDER - NE8BBAREME 6K
B ETRMNI% WA ERRIBL
FRTEEREBEBEARFKRAR01%3K
B {E#8385,000,0008 TH B #E - BS
FTEARRNR BRI -

IREBRELEREREMASE
BB AR - 12 40 B 78 S 2 4 B AR S 151,00
BILHKIE - BREATHELARES
EEeRIZBAZOBIEEARAN
HEABERTE JHPAARKLAH
Bt FR - TEEHESS2RNIG
BE ERETGERURTERSE : (AR
ARMREEAMERIAEHRNER
WMEXABBDE: D)ARRBRHRE
EROANAEE XA TR EM
MERREXRABEFHRTE: ROAR
AR RELBESMNEE -

RZZ—RAFNAZ+NR ARRIRE
ZitBMARAE TEEREERLE
B FRBERERTREENEESR
BHX BT RIZER043VE T ZER
R & $£8,060,000/% i A% -
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32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

On 11 July 2016, the Company granted share options under
the Scheme to certain directors and employees of the
Company, which entitle them to subscribe for a total of
7,490,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.475 per share, upon payment
of HK$1 per grant. No vesting period is accompanied with
these newly granted options.

On 29 November 2018, the Company granted share options
under the Scheme to certain directors and employees of
the Company, which entitle them to subscribe for a total
of 7,800,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.241 per share, upon
payment of HK$1 per grant. No vesting period is accompanied
with these newly granted options.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

32.

B RAERE ()
RIZB—RELA+—B ARFAREZ
FEMARRETEERREERLBER
B AFREREETRERIEERR
HX 1B TR IZFA0.47578 T 2 BHRR
f8 & #£7,490,0008% & 18 fx - b F ¥ R
ZERESESBM AT -

RZB-NFE+—-—A=Z+hIB ARFR
BZtERARRETEEREERH
BRE FHEEREETRERENES
RERXMIABTRIZETR0.241BTZE
1% R 8 & $£7,800,000% & i I% o It 5 #7
REzBERRYERBHZRE -

05 77 152 8 4 B T LB A T3
EE #HOT

BE_Z-N\F+-A=t-HLHFE

Exercised
price after
adjustment
for open offer As at Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled As at
and share 1 January  during the  during the  during the  during the 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period consolidation 2018 year year year year 2018
RAMBE
kR4 & 6
RAEEZ R-E-N\F
THE —A-B REARE REATE RERER REREH
28 August 2015 28 August 2015 to HK$0.431 7,800,000 — — (7,800,000) - —
—E-RE\A-t/NR 27 August 2018 043157
“E-RFN\AZTNEE
“E-NENAZT LA
11 July 2016 11 July 2016 to HK$0.475 7,300,000 — — — — 7,300,000
ZE-RFtAT—H 10 July 2019 0.475% 7T
“E-RFLA+-HE
“Z-NFtATH
29 November 2018 29 November 2018 to HK$0.241 — 7,800,000 — — — 7,800,000
- N\F+—-A=thB 28 November 2021 0.2417 1T
“E)\Ft-A=thHZE
S R e DA
15,100,000 7,800,000 - (7,800,000) - 15,100,000
Weighted average
exercise price HK$0.452 HK$0.241 N/A HK$0.431 N/A HK$0.354
MEFHITER 04527  0.241587 TEA  0431ER TER 0.3543 7
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 32. ERAESTEI(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHE_Z—+tF+_A=1T—HILFE
Exercised
price after
adjustment
for open offer Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled As at
and share during the during the during the during the 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period consolidation year year year year 2017
HAREE
RERR RERKR  HRERTH
28 August 2015 28 August 2015 to HK$0.431 8,060,000 — — (260,000 = 7,800,000
“Z-RENAZTNB 27 August 2018 04318 T
—2-TFN\A=HNBE
“2-N\FNA-TtA
11 July 2016 11 July 2016 to HK$0.475 7,490,000 — — (190,000) = 7,300,000
“T-A%tA+-H 10 July 2019 0.475% T
“E-R"EtAT-HE
“Z-NFtATH
15,550,000 = = (450,000) = 15,100,000
Weighted average
exercise price HK$0.452 N/A N/A N/A N/A HK$0.452
MEFHTRE 0.4527%8 T @R @R ~EA ~EA 0.452% 7T
During the year ended 31 December 2018, number of HE-_ZE-\F+A=+—HLEFE -
7,800,000 share option had been granted. The estimated fair AREET K H 7,800,000 BARE - N
value of the share options granted in 2018 was approximately —NFEREBEREZAFAALBOR
HK$858,000. Total consideration received during the year from 858,000 7T - FNBEARAIEFHMNE
directors of the Company for taking up the shares options RERECK 2 BRERIBTL - RAE
granted amounted to HK$4. The fair value was calculated RET R R B AR 2 IR R k18 - 1%

using the Trinomial Model, taking into account the terms and =EAEXE -
condition upon which the options were granted.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

32.

The significant assumptions and inputs used in the valuation

model are as follows:

Fair value at measurement date
Share price

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield
Expected option life

R ERHMZA
B (8

1TEfE

8 H R R

5 | e ) R

8 R B R
BHREREFS

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility

(calculated based on the expected life of the share options),

adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to

public available information. Expected dividends are based on

historical dividends. Changes in subjective input assumption

could materially affect the fair value estimate. Share options

were granted under a service condition. This condition has

not been taken into account in the grant date fair value

measurement of the services received. There was no market

conditions associated with the share option grants.

33. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments paid under
operating leases during the year

33.

REBABAMEA

FAKEHETEMN
RIEHEE R

EBRETE(E)
REERARAZ TERZREAEHR
m

As at
29 November
2018

R-ZE—N\F
+—HA=+AHF

] 0.110

0.240
0.241
77.80%
2.23%

3 years

3F

T8 BR bR = BN 2R 1R (IR 1R BB AR &Y
TEHABAPR 5T &) + I LAFE fal 5 78 2 7 AT
REMELEZARRKIEBNTERE S T A
AR -FBHREDERELERE - T8
BARBHNABAERAREE EXER
RENGBE - BERERBRBEERL -
PRI RN LB Z ARENTE
R ZAFEFETAZ E o I E AT ] T 55 (K
f B2 B8 A A AR R o

RedHE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF

—E—tF
HK$'000
FABT

HK$’000
TERT

292 84
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33. OPERATING LEASES (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

Within one year R —F RN
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_EFERF
(BEEREMSF)

33.

gede(#E)

RBERR  NEBERE T AT HH LS
HAONBRZERENRAEIHBER
m

2018 2017
—E-—N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
230 51

51 -

281 51

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its office premises with average lease term
of two years (2017: one year).

34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
granted share options under the Scheme to certain directors
and employees of the Company, which entitle them to
subscribe for a total of 7,800,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.241
per share, upon payment of HK$1 per grant. The estimated
fair value of the share options granted was approximately
HK$858,000.

34.

REMENFTEAKREREFOEAR
ME(CE—LF —F)NET RGN
ENMHESE -

TEXBRERS
BE-_ZT—\FEt+-_A=+—HItEE "
RRARIREZAEMARAIETESER
EERHERE EHEBERERETRS
R E SR E L T8 T& & 820.241
P IT Z (BAS RS 7,800,000 0% I 8 B o
BB IR 2 6 5T A A B %Y A858,000
P& TT ©
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 35, ARFAZHBRABREBEES
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position (a) HMBEMRRHEE
At At
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
R-ZZF—NF R-ZT—+tF
+=A=+—-H +=-—A=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT THT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment MEREE 80 74
Interests in subsidiaries AL EINGIPA: $5 2 29,391 3
Amounts due from & W I B A B 5B
subsidiaries 2 — 20,401
Intangible asset ERAE 120 120
” AFS financial assets AHEHESREE 1 — 21,581
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BARBEFAEME
K@ EBHBIA 5,018 —
Financial assets at FVTPL BEARBEFAEBERZ
TREE 28,041 45,851
62,650 88,030
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from & W BT B8 R B 3N IE
subsidiaries 2 — 28,569
Financial assets at FVTPL BEARBEFAEBRZ
TREE 44,582 66,226
Other receivables, B e W SR8 -
prepayments and ENRERERS
deposits 2,712 1,189
Cash and bank balances Be NIR1THE & 6,085 9,222
53,379 105,206
Current liability REBEE
Accruals EETE A 6,323 5,894
Net current assets RBEEFE 47,056 99,312
Total assets less current EEHAERABERE
liabilities 109,706 187,342
Net assets EEFE 109,706 187,342
Share and reserves B0 R & E
Share capital % 25 65,512 54,595
Reserves & 44,194 132,747
Total equity B 109,706 187,342
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 35, XPRAZHBRABRRRBELRLS
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
(@) Statement of financial position (continued) (a) HMBEARRHK(E)

Notes: B 5

Upon initial application of HKFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018,
listed debt securities with a fair value of HK$21,581,000
were reclassified from AFS financial assets to debt
instruments at FVTOCI.

During the year, the amounts due from subsidiaries have
been capitalised as interests in subsidiaries.

Impairment under ECL model

As at 1 January 2018, no credit loss allowance was
recognised against accumulated losses or FVTOCI
reserve as the ECL was found to be insignificant.

Except as described above, the application of new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Company’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior year.

REZE-NF-A-—HBERRM
BEMBHREENFIREK - AR
{B421,581,00078 7By &7 E
SEHAHHESREEEH -
BERAAESARGE2EE S
ZEBHITE -

ER - ERHBARRARER
L AR KB AR 2 3% -

RHMEEEREXTHHE

R-ZF-\F—A—8 HBERZR
AAEESEAREFARMER
WaFAEREEEREG
REHREEBETIERX -

Bk Bt F SN - MAFE &R HT AT
N A 7] & 78 B 7 o o5 2 A1 3
HARRAFERBEFENE
BRARRBERERNZE -

167
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 35, FRE2HBRRABRREFEE S
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
(b)  Reserve movement of the Company (b) ARAZHEEE

Share-
Contributed based AFS/
Share surplus  payments FVTOCI Accumulated

premium (note) reserve reserve losses
AHHE/
BARERA
BARR ROMSK HitERE
B 40 i B GE wE WEzRE  RAER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRT TRT TRT TRT TRT

At 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—-HA—H 51,189 225,806 2,499 62 (113,649) 165,907
Loss for the year FEER = = = = (47,572) (47,572)
Other comprehensive income  E 2 B s = = = 509 = 509

Total comprehensive income ~ FE2HEW#= (Ax) B8

(expense) for the year — — — 509 (47,572) (47,063)
Proceeds from placing of REMROZIBRE

new shares 14,558 = = = = 14,558
Issuing expenses of placing of ~ F & 2 ik 17 2 & 175 X

new shares (655) — — — — (655)
At 31 December 2017 R-ZF—t&+=A=+—H 65,092 225,806 2,499 571 (161,221) 132,747
Loss for the year FEER — — — — (92,093) (92,093)
Other comprehensive Hm2EMAE

expense = = = (712) = (712)

Total comprehensive expense  FEZEM Y

for the year = = = (712) (92,093) (92,805)
Proceeds from placing of RE R AEHRE
new shares 3,821 = = = = 3,821
Issuing expenses of placing of B & # AR H 2 B 1T
new shares (427) = = = = (427)
Recognition of share-based TR AR (3%
payments — — 858 — — 858
Lapse of share options BRELX — — (1,185) = 1,185 =
At 31 December 2018 R=_ZE-\FE+-_A=+—H 68,486 225,806 2,172 (141) (252,129) 44194
Note: The amount represents amount transfer from the share MisE: %< B8 R EIRE AR 0 % B B
premium upon reduction of share premium amount. The B BEERNDEABNESE -
detail of reasons and effect of share premium reduction BEEEDR IR0 & B8 IR B &%
were set out in the circular of the Company dated BIFBHRARFBES R

30 September 2015. T—RFNA=+HZEBK
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36. PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES 36. FEMBARIZFHE
Particulars of the significant subsidiaries of the Company as R —NFR=ZZ—tF+ZA=+
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: —HB ARAEEWBAR ZFF BRI
LU

Nominal value of

issued ordinary share  Percentage of equity

Place of capital/registered attributable to the
Name of company incorporation paid-up capital Company Principal activities
ERTEER
REAEE/ KRR LG
DEEB o B 3L 3t B SR &R BEZEo FREK
Direct Indirect
& B
Nicefield Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100%  Asset holding
NEDMNER A BB BT RBEEE
New Spark International Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Investment holding
Limited BA BT REER
HEBRBERAF
Greater Sino Venture Limited  British Virgin US$100 100% — Investment holding
Islands 1003 7T REZER
KBELES
Zhuhai Sky First Investment ~ PRC Registered capital: = 100%  Investment holding
Limited* i RMB10,000,000/ BAER
REMAERERE Paid-up capital: about
BRAT RMB2,580,000
ERAI-ZE
AR #10,000,0007C,/
ENER:
£\ R #2,580,0007T
Shenzhen Qianhai Marvel PRC Registered capital: = 100%  Investment holding
Sino Project Investment AR RMB30,000,000/ REZR
Limited* Paid-up capital:
RYAEMERBRE Nil
BRAA Eff &
A R #30,000,0007T
BENEXR:

For identification only

* (ERF Rl
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37.

38.

39.

40.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2018, the office premise with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$10,915,000 (2017: approximately
HK$11,445,000) was pledged for an instalment loan. As at
31 December 2017, the Group's obligation under a finance
lease was secured by the Group's title to the leased assets,
which had carrying amount of approximately HK$3,569,000.
The pledge was released during the year ended 31 December
2018 upon the maturity of the finance lease.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of the net asset value per share at the
end of the reporting period is based on the net assets of
approximately HK$142,041,000 (2017: HK$182,075,000) and
approximately 655,122,000 (2017: 545,952,000) ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each in issue at 31 December 2018. The net asset
value per share as at 31 December 2018 is HK$0.22 (2017:
HK$0.33).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).

APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March
2019.

37.

38.

39.

40.

EERA
R-ZE—NF+—A=+—H EREE
4 510,915,000 (= & — £ F: 4
11,445,000 L) Z WA EWEE L — £
SPHERMER R-_T—+F+=-A=
+—B  AEBEZRERERENAER
IR T 1B 493,569,000 T2 HEEEFTA
EEER HE-_ZT - N\F+_A=1+—
BIEFE  ZEBERBERED %7
g@ °

BREEZRE
REEBRR2EREEFEDRE
R-ZEBE-—NEFE+=—RA=1+—"RB2z28E
B 49142,041,0008 T(Z T — £ &
182,075,000 JT) K& 49655,122,000% (=
T — 4+ 4 : 545,952,0004% ) & A% M {80.10
BILZEETEBRFAE -RZZE—AN
FHZ A=+ —HAZBREEFEALR022
BILT(ZE—EF:033%87T) °

=
E=ZgTEIRBE_ZT\F+-A=
T—HALEFREIRMNRERE (ZF -1
&) o

HEREMBEEE
GEMBRRNEEEEN T —NF
SA-HABHERBETE -



FIVE YEAR

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEMBEHRE

Summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the AEBRBERFRNZEE BEENABEHE

last five years is as follows: m

For the year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=+T—-HLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

—®-\F —FT-t& -F-xE <-T-BF -F-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER T T T T

Results ¥
Loss before income tax  BRFTSFiATAE 18 (53,840) (45,339) (74,015) (47,986) (85,768)
Income tax expenses Fr 15 B F 2 — - = = (@)
Loss for the year RRBIHEE AR

attributable to owners R EFERNEE

of the Company (53,840) (45,339) (74,015) (47,986) (85,772)

As at 31 December
R+=BA=+—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

—E-N\F —E—+tF —E—RF —E—hF —ZE—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT T T T T T T FH& T

Assets and liabilities EEREE

Total assets EEBE 152,081 194,322 218,134 255,704 254,332
Total liabilities BERSE (10,040) (12,247) (14,117) (23,404) (1,581)

TN

Total equit ME T A ER 142,041 182,075 204,017 232,300 252,751
quity
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OUR PRE-IPO
INVESTMENT

RPN
REARE

China Oriented International Holdings Limited is a
provider of driving training services in China.

One of its driving school is Tong Tai School which
offers driving training services for preparation for
driving tests of both large and small vehicles.
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CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED
PEEHEARESEMEBSIRLE
(Continued into Bermuda with limited liability)
(RBEREFEZARATR)
(Stock Code &5k : 810)

Unit 18, 9/F, Block B, Focal Industrial Centre,
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